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Friday, February 28, 2013

--- Upon commencing at 9:35 a.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:  MS. CONBOY:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.  

     We are ready today with panel number 3, Mr. Stevens; is that correct?  

     MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Great.  We will see if we can get back on 

track in terms of our timing today. 

     I had said yesterday that we had a hard stop at noon to 1:15.  That has been moved, so we don't have that constraint any more. 

     Subject to some of you not having made plans that will make it difficult, I would like to suggest that we take 45 

minutes at lunch time, say from 12:00 to 12:45.  We will see where the natural break is, but if that's going to present a problem to anybody, if you could please let Ms. Sebalj know, we can move things around or try and accommodate it otherwise. 

     So I see that there are undertaking responses up here. 

     MR. STEVENS:  That's correct.  Yesterday evening Enbridge filed three undertaking responses.  Work continues on the outstanding ones that we filed.  As each of them -- as soon as there is at least a couple, we will file them as soon as we can.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And we also did provide -- and it is also on the table for those who are interested -- a completed chart in response to FRPO's request for information about gas supply activities. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. STEVENS:  And if I might, just one other preliminary matter? 

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS: 

     MR. STEVENS:  Everybody will have noted some confusion 

around the chart that was filed as Exhibit K5.6 yesterday 

afternoon.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Yes. 

     MR. STEVENS:  The people who presented the chart have been working feverishly to determine, I guess, the couple of mismatches that were identified, and are at a point where they have been able to create a table which accurately represents the information from the corresponding table that was discussed related to SEC 91. 

     It wasn't quite done by the time we came up here, so we propose, with your leave, to provide it to everybody at the next natural break. 

     MS. CONBOY:  That will be fine.  Thank you very much.  

     So without further ado, we will get the next panel affirmed. And I understand you do not have any opening statements?  

     MR. STEVENS:  That's right.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 3


Frank Smith, affirmed

Erik Naczynski, affirmed

Ritch Murray, affirmed

Ian Taylor, affirmed
     MS. CONBOY:  If you could just introduce your witnesses for us, please. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  Members of the panel, this witness panel is here to speak to the items beside panel number 3 on Exhibit K1.1, and that relates to aspects of the capital budget around growth, reinforcements, relocations and business development.  

     Starting from closest to me is Ritch Murray.  Beside him is Ian Taylor, and then Frank Smith and Erik Naczynski.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you very much.  Will they be adopting their evidence?  

     MR. STEVENS:  I'm sorry.  Of course.  Mr. Naczynski --or Mr. Smith, rather, can you confirm that the evidence that your panel is speaking to today was prepared by each of you, or under your direction?  

     MR. SMITH:  I can, yes. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And to the best of your knowledge, is it 

accurate and true?  

     MR. SMITH:  It is. 

     MR. STEVENS:  And on behalf of the panel, do you adopt that evidence for the purpose of your testimony?  

     MR. SMITH:  I do. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Thompson, I believe you are first cab off the rank this morning; is that correct?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I hope not.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  I have things colour-coded here, with you going first, but I am open to --

     MR. BRETT:  I can go first.

MS. CONBOY:  Okay, Mr. Brett.  Thank you very much.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:
     MR. BRETT:  Panel, good morning.  My name is Tom Brett.  I act for the Building Owners and Managers Association. 

     And the first question is with respect to the B1, tab 3 -- it is the community extension program I am referring to.  That was the first program referenced in your list of evidence. 

     My understanding is that you are not seeking anything under that program in this case, and that you are going to have a separate submission later this year; is that right?  

     MR. MURRAY:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So going on, then, to the second piece of evidence, customer growth capital budget -- that is B2, tab 2, schedule 1 -- I have a few questions there.  

You have outlined in -- well, you have outlined on page 1 your budget for 2013, and I think I will just ask a generic question.  

     Would you be willing to give us an undertaking to update that, and give us the actual 2013 for each place in your evidence that has a budget for 2013?  In other words, actual -- for example, in table 1 of B2, tab 2, schedule 1, you have customer growth 2013-2016, and under 2013 you have a budget for customer additions. 

     Then you go on in the subsequent tables to have dollar 

numbers for 2013, but they're budget numbers.  

I think we asked a question like this yesterday; Mr. Thompson did.  I would just like you to fill in the appropriate actual numbers for 2013.  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I believe there was an undertaking to apply the actual customer additions and the actual costs. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay. 

     MR. SMITH:  If, however, there was not, we would be pleased to do so. 

     MR. BRETT:  And you would do that throughout each piece of your evidence here?  

Ms. Smith:  In the customer growth section, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That's fine.  Do we need a number for that?

     MS. CONBOY:  We are not sure whether it has been applied.  So why don't we give it a placeholder?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Sure, the placeholder will be J6.1.

UNDERTAKING J6.1:  TO UPDATE ALL EVIDENCE LISTED IN EXHIBIT K1.1 WITH ACTUAL 2013 NUMBERS AND 2008 TO 2012 AVERAGE ACTUAL NUMBERS.

MS. SEBALJ:  And just so that we're clear, it is an undertaking to provide 2013 actuals for Exhibit B2, tab 2, schedule 1 only?  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Yes, and all of the other pieces of 

evidence this panel are speaking to.  The question will arise every time, I think, so just for simplicity I am just asking that it be -- 

MR. SMITH:  A point of clarification, if I might?  Just in the customer growth section; is that correct?  

     MR. BRETT:  In the package of -- well, no, in the pieces of evidence that you are speaking to. 

     MR. STEVENS:  To be clear, if I am looking at Exhibit K1.1, which is the list of the evidence to which this panel is speaking, you are asking us to update any tables that have 2013 numbers in each of those six pieces of evidence?  

     MR. BRETT:  That's correct, yes. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Certainly, assuming the information exists, we can certainly do that. 

     MR. BRETT:  We are not talking about a lot of numbers here; there is maybe five or six tables scattered through those pieces of evidence. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, more substantively, on page 2, you talk about the fact that 93 percent of your -- that is B2, tab 2, schedule 1, first piece of evidence here we're talking about, page 2, paragraph 4.  93 percent of the customer additions are residential, right?  Either residential subdivision or residential replacement?  

     MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  And what I am interested in is on the 

residential side, that includes, as I understand it, apartments -- and when you say "apartments" I assume that also includes condominiums, right?  

     MR. SMITH:  I'm not certain of the categorization within categories.  There is a panel coming up that actually puts together our customer growth forecasts, and Mr. Ahmad would be better to discuss how we categorize -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I can ask him that.  I will tell you what my interest is.  My interest is getting –- and I tried to do this over the years, I think, with somewhat indifferent success.  So I want to try and nail it down this time. 

     My interest is in the relative costs of connection for a single-family residential home in a residential suburb, compared to the cost of connecting an apartment building or a condominium building, a single building, and then -- and that's the case where you have what you call, I think, a single meter building. 

     And the second part of the comparison is a cost of connecting a single unit in a condominium building, and I assume -- so that is what I am interested in.  Can you provide something on that?  

     What I'm -- and let me just -- perhaps I could add one point of clarification.  I am assuming that when you connect a new condominium -- and the reason I am asking is obvious, I think.  We're getting hundreds of these condo towers built, and so I am assuming that they're -- I would like to know the cost of connecting a condominium unit.  So if we have a 100-unit building, you connect one building, but you're amortizing that or spreading that cost, as I understand it, over -- assuming you have in-suite metering, in-suite metering, you've got 100 customers there; correct?

     And I would like to know the cost of connecting one of those customers relative to the cost of connecting a single-family home.  

     MR. SMITH:  So I would certainly like to provide what you are asking for.  What I do know from the construction perspective is that there are three main types of condominium attachment methodologies. 

     So there is -- there are generally, like, in-closet metering, where we have a gas main that runs up the building, and it feeds individual floors.  And within each floor there are closets, and there are gas meters for each unit within the closet.  So that is one style. 

     The other style is where we do what is called a garage header service.  So we enter the underground garage and we bulk-meter for each floor along the path of the garage and then run supply lines up to each of the floors and each of the units. 

     And then there is what you referred to earlier as bulk 

metering, where we provide a bulk meter that feeds the entire building. 

     The difficulty I'm having with your request is differentiating those three methods from direct buried pipe into a subdivision and then into a residential home, for example, is quite difficult.  

     MR. BRETT:  Let me ask you this, then, and I'll break it down in pieces.

First of all, I understand you -- I assume you would have some direct buried pipe to the condominium building itself? 

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Before you get into these three options, right?

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  So we could maybe get an -- could you give me an assessment of that cost?  

     MR. SMITH:  The cost --


MR. BRETT:  Relative to the cost of a service to a single-family home. 

     MR. SMITH:  I could characterize it this way.  The unit rates we pay to get a service from a main to a condominium are the same unit rates I would use to get a service from a main to a subdivision.  They're the same unit rates. 

     MR. BRETT:  What do you mean by "unit"?  You mean unit rates?  You mean unit costs paid per foot of line, or --

     MR. SMITH:  Yeah.  No, we pay generally per-meter prices by pipe size, so I pay the same --

     MR. BRETT:  Can you give me that again?  

     MR. SMITH:  We pay -- generally our contractors establish whereby we pay per-meter rates --

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. SMITH:  -- by pipe size and by material. 

     MR. BRETT:  This is regardless of whether you've got to dig up a street to service an urban condominium at the corner of King and, you know, Ontario, or you are actually running a service line in a subdivision?  Are you saying you pay the same cost for each of those on a per-pipe size, per foot?  

     MR. SMITH:  No.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That is what I want to know.  I'd like that differentiated, if you could, please.  Is that possible?  What I'm trying to get here -- look, we have been discussing this for quite a long -- I want to get -- my working hypothesis is there are some differentials in costs of attaching units.  Okay?  They're not all the same cost, I would assume, and I think you are confirming that.

And what I would like to do is have you give me as much help as you can in comparing these costs. 

     Now, if I can go back to your question, your three options inside the building, to finish this off, are those three options -- the third option was bulk metering in the building, right?  So that is one set of costs.  And is the assumption there that the developer or the owner of the building then takes it from there?  

     MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  That is number one.  So could you give me a cost of that option versus the other options?

     Now, option two, as I understand it, is -- are option -- your first and second options, where you have -- you do it by floors or by individual unit or suite?

     MR. SMITH:  The second option I described --

     MR. BRETT:  Is what, the floors?

     MR. SMITH:  -- is what is called a garage header, so it's where we put the meters in the underground garage.  Or, sorry, that was the --


MR. BRETT:  That was -- that's the third one, yeah --


MR. SMITH:  I apologize.  That was the first option.


MR. BRETT:  We talked about that. 

     MR. SMITH:  So there is bulk metering, there is the garage option, and then there is what we call in-closet metering.  Each floor has a --

     MR. BRETT:  So a meter in each unit, hey?

     MR. SMITH:  -- set of closets.  It does not go into each unit; it goes into closets, which then feed each unit. 

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  But -- and that is -- that would be done where you have individual own -- individual metering?

In other words, I want you to relate this to whether you have in-suite metering or not.  If you have in-suite metering in a building, I am assuming that you have -- that means you have a meter for each unit; is that correct?  If I have 100 apartments, I have 100 meters?  

     MR. SMITH:  So where we run our gas main up the building, we do have examples where the meters are actually in each of the suites.

However, our preferred method for a number of reasons is to put the meters in closets where we have full access to them, because we found in-meter -- in-suite causes us some access problems. 

     MR. BRETT:  I understand.  Okay.  My mistake. 

     So are you telling me that if you have 100 customers and each is paying their own gas bill, you would still install -- let's say there are 10 floors and 10 customers per floor.  You would install 10 meters in a closet on each floor?  Is that what you're saying?  

     MR. SMITH:  Potentially, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So maybe you could give me a comparison of the cost of doing that versus doing what you describe as the bulk metering. 

     MR. SMITH:  I think what we would be able to provide you is this.  If we were to take a condominium with X number of customers -- we will pick a hypothetical number of customers -- we can cost out what that would -- we could price out the cost of that installation relative to installing buried plant for 10 homes of the same number in a subdivision.

Would that be -- I think that is what you're looking for. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, that, I think, is -- that would be progress, I think.  Why don't you do that and -- 

     MR. SMITH:  Could I just give you a moment?

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. KAISER:  And you've got five minutes, Mr. Brett. 

     MR. BRETT:  Five minutes left?  Okay. 

     MR. SMITH:  We will undertake to provide that information to you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  It is J6.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  TO PROVIDE COST OF INSTALLATION OF BURIED PLANT IN A CONDOMINIUM COMPARED TO 10 HOMES OF THE SAME NUMBER IN A SUBDIVISION.

MS. SEBALJ:  And just so that everyone in the room knows, we haven't been very good -- and this is probably largely my fault -- at providing a succinct description of our undertakings when we take up four or five pages of transcript debating it. 

     I think you just did that, so that is fine, but if we could make sure when we do have a debate about the undertaking that we describe it, I will prompt you to do that.  Thanks. 

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.
     MR. BRETT:  Fine.  Thank you.  

     Okay.  Now, you mentioned drivers have changed, your drivers of changing costs, and when you would adjust your costs from year to year.

You mentioned a winter premium for winter construction.  What would that premium be, typically?

     MR. SMITH:  Our winter premium -- 

     MR. BRETT:  That's my question, yes.  

     MR. SMITH:  -- is around 40 percent of the cost.  

     MR. BRETT:  40 percent?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  And how do you define that?  That is construction done between, what, December 1 and March 31st?  Or how -- 

     MR. SMITH:  It is generally between the end of December and the beginning of March.  However, the qualifier is it is dependent on the volume of frost in the ground.  So if we're into January and there is no frost, we don't pay a premium.  Right?

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And is all of this work done essentially by contractors?  

     MR. SMITH:  The vast majority of customer growth work is performed by contractors, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And you mentioned that you're subjective to collective -- contractor, trades, collective agreements.  Is that the case?  These are -- 

     MR. SMITH:  The contractors that we use are -- I believe they're exclusively unionized.  They have national agreements, national contract agreements.  And yes, those are applied to their labour rates.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  I have just one question on the next piece of evidence, which is B2, tab 3, schedule 1, reinforcements. 

     You talk about simulation there in arriving at -- I guess that is for you, Mr. Naczynski -- in arriving at a plan for the previous -- for the next year. 

     My question is -- I read through how you do this, you are gathering and then you simulate.  Does this mean that the actual base line that you use changes from year to year, based on the average design day experience, coldest day -- not design day, coldest day of the year experience that you had in the previous year? 

     You say you use an average there.  Could you explain that?  Could you just tell me how that works?

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Absolutely.  I can certainly help you out there.  

So our simulation process looks at what would have 

been the coldest day from that previous winter, and we use that coldest day to, if you will, ratchet back the loads on our model, so that the models reflect the weather conditions and the circumstances that we had on our system during that day. 

     We use that information to validate that the model is giving us accurate or reasonably accurate results, and that -- as I mentioned, that is done at that particular temperature that was actually observed that day.  

     We then, knowing that and knowing what the growth –- or, sorry, knowing what the load per degree day is, we then for design purposes, if you will, increase the overall load on the system to what the design day is.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay. 

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  If that helps you.

So simulation may not be done at design day; it would have been done at the peak day. 

     MR. BRETT:  The fact that you are using a different coldest day each year, from year to year, because the coldest day will be different each year --  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  -- does that not change your -- does that not impact your projection?  How do you neutralize that from impacting your projection for the following year?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Our loads that we put into our modelling is weather-normalized.  So we take that load looking at the -- I don't know if you want me to get into the details or not, but essentially we look at the historical customer consumption and predict a value 

at a design day.  

And when we simulate -- we bring that temperature to whatever that temperature was actually observed in that particular winter.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you, Mr. Brett. 

     MR. BRETT:  One final question.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Brett, I have already give you more time. 

     MR. BRETT:  Am I over?  That's fine.  All right.  I am finished, then. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Quinn?  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  So -- sorry, Mr. Thompson.  You wanted to say something?

     MR. THOMPSON:  I can go, if you wish. 

     MR. QUINN:  I can go, Peter, I am going to be quite brief.  Mr. Naczynski will be quite disappointed; I won't ask him about simulations like in the GTA project.

I will be quite brief, Madam Chair.  I am hoping to get back five minutes from yesterday in this process.

MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN:

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, panel.  I am Dwayne Quinn, on behalf of the Federation of Rental-Housing Providers of Ontario, and my question falls into one category, but there are multiple parts to the question. 

     In B2, tab 3, schedule 1, attachment 1, the total -- you don't need to turn this up, I don't think, Bonnie -- but the total project cost for the Ottawa reinforcement was listed at $51 million. 

     The 2013 update, which was provided with the February 18th update package in B2, tab 1, schedule 1, at page 44, which we referred to earlier, listed the 2013 costs at $61.9 million, which represents over a 40-percent increase relative to the 2013 budgeted costs. 

     I presume this is by way of undertaking, because you might not have the resources on this panel available to you, but by way of undertaking, what is Enbridge's updated 

forecast for the total cost to the Ottawa reinforcement project, what were the drivers of the variances, and, very importantly, what lessons were learned in the Ottawa reinforcement project that will be applied to the GTA 

project to reduce the risk of a similar result?  

     MR. SMITH:  I can speak to that, if you would like.  

     MR. QUINN:  I would like a defined undertaking to break out -- if you have the actual cost, the break-outs of all of the costs and an answer, a succinct answer to how that will be applied to the GTA project, I will accept that.

But I was looking for some considered -- simply put, as ratepayers, we do not want a 40 percent premium on $600 million in the GTA. 

     So if that is the case, what has Enbridge learned and what will be applied?  

     MR. SMITH:  I am not able to qualify the learnings relative to the GTA project.  

     MR. QUINN:  Then I would be very happy with an undertaking, in terms of expediting the process here, to break out the cost drivers and the lessons learned and what will be applied.  

Frankly, to me, that is something that is probably better in writing. 

     MR. STEVENS:  Perhaps given our wish to pick up some time today, that might be the wisest way to proceed.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  It is J6.3. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED 

FORECAST FOR TOTAL COST OF OTTAWA REINFORCEMENT PROJECT, THE DRIVERS OF THE VARIANCES, AND THE LESSONS LEARNED IN THE OTTAWA REINFORCEMENT PROJECT THAT WILL BE APPLIED TO THE GTA PROJECT TO REDUCE THE RISK OF A SIMILAR RESULT.
     MR. BRETT:  Is the panel comfortable with what has been read into the transcript as a sufficient definition?  

     MR. SMITH:  Yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  Those are my 

questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  I would like everybody to have a hard think about the number of undertakings and whether specific information is actually required at this point in time in the proceeding for an undertaking.  

     Thank you very much, Mr. Quinn.

And Mr. Thompson, are you next?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Panel, just in terms of Mr. Brett's undertaking where you are going to provide 2013 actuals to the various categories of expense that you are speaking to in those charts, could you add to that the 2008 to 2012 average actual?  

     MR. STEVENS:  We can certainly do these things.  It is starting to feel like we're back into discovery, in terms of -- these really aren't questions that are arising from new evidence.  

So while we're prepared to -- we're in the Panel's hands as to what to do.  I do have some concern that we're never going to be able to catch up on the undertakings, and we're really rehashing what might have been done through interrogatories answered at the technical conference.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Thompson?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I take my friend's point.  It probably could have been done.  We could probably ferret out the numbers ourselves and average them.  But I think the most expeditious way would be to just add it to Mr. Brett's undertaking.  

They have already agreed to do it for the sections of the evidence I asked yesterday, so I am just trying to have a consistent pattern here. 

     MR. STEVENS:  The concern I have, Mr. Thompson, is I haven't done the count, but there is probably two to three tables in each of the pieces of evidence that we have agreed to update for Mr. Brett. 

     So it does become a fairly large activity to find 2008 to 2012 numbers that relate to each of those pieces of evidence.  

And frankly, I am not sure how relevant it even is to be able to say that a particular reinforcement project, of course, has zero for the five years from 2008 to 2012, since it didn't exist.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Give us a minute, please.  

     [Board Panel Members confer]  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  We will allow the undertaking in this case.

But I will repeat what I had said -- what I had said before, that in going forward, if we're talking about 

undertakings that could have been asked in an interrogatory, if we're talking about data requirements that could have easily been asked in an interrogatory and it might be something that you have just thought of now, then we're not going to be accepting those going forward.  

     And I would really like you to go back and look at your cross-examination for the next panels and make that delineation.  

     So please continue.  And we will add that to, I believe 6.3; is that correct?  Or is it 6.2?

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think it is actually 6.1, J6.1.

     MS. CONBOY:  Or 6.1.  Thank you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Just to be clear, witness panel and Mr. Stevens, I am just interested in the total dollars per category.  I'm not interested in individual projects.  So that may make your task easier.  I don't know.


In any event, let me ask -- 

     MR. STEVENS:  Sorry, can I just be clear about that, Mr. Thompson?  If I was to look, then, at, for example, table 13 that is in the main B2-1-1 evidence, which sets out spending by capital business area, is that really what you are looking for, an update, then, to have the total relocations dollars or the total reinforcement dollars or the total customer adds --


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, on --


MR. STEVENS:  -- for 2008 to 2012?

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- the average 2008 to '12, and then actual. 

     MR. STEVENS:  So we won't turn our attention to the individual tables within the evidence.  We will just update 2008 to 2012 within table 13? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  That is what I am after.


MR. STEVENS:  Thank you. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you so much.  

     MS. CONBOY:  And is that the same, then, to Mr. Brett's question as well?  

     MR. STEVENS:  I had understood Mr. Brett to be asking us to translate the items within the evidence.  This --


MS. CONBOY:  Oh, that's --


MR. STEVENS:  -- panel's speaking to between budget 2013 and updated to actuals. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  I don't have many questions for this panel, so I won't be the 30 minutes, and I apologize for failing to appreciate I was first up.  I had a photostat of the -- as opposed to the ones with the yellow, and the yellow didn't come out, so I thought Mr. -- whoever has -- came out dark in the photostat was first, so --

     MS. CONBOY:  Well, you can thank Mr. Brett with a cup of coffee over the break. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah.  No, I will thank him in an appropriate manner.


MR. THOMPSON:  First of all, panel, with respect to community expansion, you told Mr. Brett that in your evidence you are coming back later with something.  

     In the context of this model that you are presenting for a five-year custom IRM, are you coming back with a Z factor presentation, a Y factor presentation?  What box does the presentation fall into when you come back?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thanks for the question.  I would like to refer you to one of our interrogatory responses.  

     My apologies.  It is an undertaking.  This is Undertaking TCU1.9, where we describe that we're at the early stages of understanding what this proposal might look like, and we list a half-dozen or more options that may apply.

A Y factor is listed as one of those options, but there are others, and we haven't determined yet what that proposal will look like.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I guess we will wait to see what it entails. 

     Now, in developing -- in this area, is there any economic feasibility test that applies?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what is that?  

     MR. MURRAY:  It would be subject to EBO 188.  However, we are looking, as listed here -- there could be some cost-sharing mechanisms that we could explore with municipalities or the province or whatever, to meet that threshold. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  But is there any history with respect to this type of activity that we could look to, to see what might be reasonable?  

     MR. MURRAY:  It would predate me, but there could be.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Can you help me with when?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

MR. THOMPSON:  It won't predate me, I can tell you.  [Laughter] 

     MR. MURRAY:  Can I take an undertaking to explore that and get back to you with whatever I can find?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I am happy with that, as long as the Chair is. 

     MS. CONBOY:  That's a fair enough undertaking.  Thank you.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  It is J6.4. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  TO PROVIDE ANY HISTORY OF COST SHARING WITH MUNICIPALITIES OR THE PROVINCE.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let me move on, then, to the next topic, which is customer growth, and I believe that is at Exhibit B2, tab 2, schedule 1.  

     Am I correct that this activity is governed by economic feasibility tests?  

     MR. SMITH:  You're correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do all of the projects being forecast for the years 2014 to '18 inclusive meet the economic feasibility test?  

     MR. SMITH:  They will.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in terms of dollar amounts, what is it that drives the dollar amounts in these -- in this particular category?  Is it simply the number of forecast attachments and the cost per customer?  

     MR. SMITH:  No.  There are a number of cost pressures, and there's -- the marketplace is somewhat evolving.  There is a number of things.

So our mix of customers in a given year impact, say, the cost per customer metric within that year.  There are a -- I can speak to a number of cost pressures that impact the cost per customer in any given year.

And there are -- there's also -- there's a bit of a transformation in the market.  We're moving to a joint utility trench methodology, which is putting downward pressure on our costs in this area, so that is another major factor in the cost per customer. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in terms of the historic trends in this area, in terms of the pace of the work, what were the drivers of the work?  What determines whether you do this work or you do not do this work in any particular year?  

     MR. SMITH:  We follow the requirements under EBO 188. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is it then forecast customer attachments that meet the economic feasibility test?  

     MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And they have been running around 40,000 a year on average.  I know it's a little less at the moment, but that is the number that is in the evidence somewhere.  

     MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you're staying within that ballpark, as I understand it, for each of these years?

     MR. SMITH:  Our economic forecasting indicates that we should be in that ballpark, yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

     Turning then to reinforcements, which I believe is B2, tab 3, schedules 1 and -- schedule 1, at least, and the various attachments, do economic feasibility tests apply to this area of capital expenditure?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Absolutely they will.  So the projects that are identified in B2, tab 3, schedule 1 with the attachments are all projects that would meet the threshold for leave to construct.  That would be then through a process here at the Board to evaluate those economics, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what is that threshold, just to refresh my memory?

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  So the requirements for leave to construct would be on a project that is greater than $2 million, a project that is 12-inch pipeline in excess of 2,000 kilopascals, and -- or more than 20 kilometres of pipeline to be constructed.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that is all of the stuff that is in B2, tab 3, schedule 1?  Peterborough and Lindsay, Georgian Bay, Ottawa area, GTA, Niagara area?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  So on B2, tab 3, schedule 1, page 5, we list off a number of projects there.  The first three will or have already had leave-to-construct applications for those.

Some of the projects, Mr. Thompson, that you just discussed there at a high level, those are projects that will be under $2 million and wouldn't necessarily prompt a leave to construct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's just talk about those, then.  Is there some criteria that applies to dictate when you do this kind of work?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Absolutely.  So what I had started to describe previously with respect to how our forecasting and modelling process works, so on an annual basis we're reviewing our system models, looking at the future growth and the pace of that growth on any particular system, and we're always looking at what additional capacity and what reinforcements may be required to continue to service those areas.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But can you help me with traditionally what criteria dictated the pace at which the work was done?  Is there some sort of dollar limit in a traditional year for the amount of work you can do in this particular area?  Or is it unlimited?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Well, there's of course always limits.  I think we have filed historical spends on reinforcement dating back to -- actuals back to 1994 are already included in this evidence, and those annual reinforcement dollars range from $6 million up to over $40 million in any particular year.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So do the historical dollars give us any idea of the pace at which this type of work is done in any year?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  With respect to the pace, in any 

reinforcement projects, we're looking at how we can balance that work load that needs to happen from one year to the next year.  

Of course, the need from a system reliability and safety perspective, that's obviously always paramount to us to make sure we have adequate supply to those customers. 

     So we need to balance and weigh off our ability to pace those projects, but ensure the pipe is installed in time for a particular upcoming heating season. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So can any of these projects that you are forecasting be based differently, without impairing system reliability?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  We look at that on an ongoing basis.  With respect to reinforcements, we know that there's those customers are coming online, and it is a matter of timing the reinforcement such that the pipe will be there on time when the customers -- or as the loads continue to increase on a particular system. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So is there some flexibility there?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  There is absolutely some flexibility, and we work to try to manage that.  However, the reinforcement schedules that we have included within this application are our best assumptions at this time from our system planning group.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  I understand that.

Is there any acceleration of work being done in this particular budget, or is it business as usual?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  This is all business as usual.  There is no acceleration. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

The next one, then, is -- excuse me –- yes, Ottawa, which Mr. Quinn has spoken to you about.  And then GTA comes up in another panel, as I understand it; is that right?  

     MR. SMITH:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the next is relocations,  which is B2, tab 4, schedule 1.

Are there any economic feasibility tests that apply to this work, or is this done on an as-needed basis?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  This is done on an as-needed basis. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The drivers are, if I understand the evidence correctly, demands from third parties, municipalities, or perhaps others?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what criteria covers or apply to 

the way in which you respond to these demands?  The selection of these types of projects in any year, are there any criteria that you apply to control the pace of this type of work?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  Unfortunately, for the most part in relocation work, we are at the mercy of the municipality or third party agency requesting the relocation. 

     We have to meet their timelines; we have to meet their budget.  We begin with the premise that our pipe is in a 

perfectly good spot and it is perfectly fine.  We would rather not move it. 

     So we do not undertake any sort of feasibility study or movement in time deferral of the projects.  We have to work to their needs.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, in this category, your historic relocation costs, if I understand it, range between 6 and $9.5 million.  I am looking at B2, tab 4, schedule 1, page 3, paragraph 13.  

     MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you're forecasting relocations in that 9 and a half million dollar range for the next three years?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that right?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then there's one here for York Regional Rapid Transit Corporation.  That is a specific demand, is it, that you have no flexibility over?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  That is correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So have you committed to do that work in those years, or is that still a forecast?  

     MR. TAYLOR:  We're doing that work currently.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.

And then finally, it's the B2, 7, 1 business development and customer strategy.  

The budget number -- this is B2, tab 7, schedule 1, page 1, and the budget number for 2013 was $294,000.  We don't have the historic numbers; maybe you have them. 

     But that category of work is now being ramped up by a factor of 11 times.  And is there any historic justification for that budgeting?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  The budget numbers that we're showing are driven by two things.  One is our customer dialogue has driven us to a growth forecast that is included in the numbers and then unit costs.  So we've never had a growth forecast like this, but we have seen unit costs like this.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Growth in what?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Growth in the number of customers interested in NGV.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And how do you measure that?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Customer dialogue.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what does that mean?

     MR. MURRAY:  It means talking to customers who have either called in and expressed an interest, or have been referred to us in some way.  We go out and speak with them, understand their fleets, their requirements, and put together a forecast. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you record that in some fashion?  

     MR. MURRAY:  It could be in e-mails, it could be minutes of meetings, but --

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you're getting 11 times more calls; is that -- 

     MR. MURRAY:  No, these stations -- for example, on the large CNG refuelling stations, they're big ticket items --it doesn't take many customers to drive those costs up.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So is there -- in terms of the criteria that are applied to measure the reasonableness of these costs, is there a historic pattern prior to budget 2013 that helps us examine the reasonableness of the 3.4 million?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Right.  So the unit costs are informed by 

historical costs, our understanding of recent projects, similar projects, and dialogue with contractors and suppliers and vendors.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Is this something that there's some flexibility over?  In other words, could you postpone this work, or simply not do it?  

     MR. MURRAY:  Well, again, it is a growth program and it is driven by customer need, and so, I mean, the only way I can think it could be deferred would be to turn customers away.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Wolnik?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WOLNIK:
     MR. WOLNIK:  Good morning, panel.  John Wolnik, representing APPrO.  Some of my questions have been answered, so I will probably be less than my allotted time. 

     I first wanted to talk a little bit about the planning process.  I appreciate that you had a discussion with Mr. Brett about that, and I just wanted to pick up where you left off, I think, with him.  

     In terms of your planning process –- and I appreciate that you calibrate the system on a regular basis, to make sure you have the best model that tries to simulate real life -- when you do your growth forecast, can you talk about the length of time that you use to forecast growth when you are looking at reinforcement projects?

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  So on an annual basis, we're looking at that pipe and ensure we have sufficient capacity in our system for every winter, of course, as we go through that planning process, to make sure we can meet the operational needs of the upcoming heating season. 

     As we refer to long-range planning, that is a process that we go through and update our long-range plans, again on an annual basis, which I think is where you're referring to.  And with that, we use a 10-year horizon. 

So we have a -- as we look into our crystal ball, so to speak, we have five years where we have relative certainty.  Those are things where we have draft 

plans of subdivisions, we have more certainty around the customer numbers and where growth is actually happening.

But we're also looking out over a 10-year horizon as well, to ensure that the decisions we're making now for reinforcements would be compatible, or could be expanded upon in future years, so we're putting in the right assets now as part of our reinforcement plans. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  I'd handed out a compendium yesterday.  I don't know if you have a copy of that.  It is K5.7.  And I would like -- if you have that, I would like you to look at tab 1, page 1, which is really the Ottawa -- it is the application for the Ottawa growth project. 

     And specifically footnote number 1, it looks like in this project you actually went to a 20-year growth horizon; is that fair?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  That is absolutely fair.  The Ottawa project was unique in the fact that there was some -- one of the main drivers of the project was a -- if you will, a fundamental shift in gas supply into the Ottawa region, and we did look out for informational purposes on what would be the longer-term trends in growth in those areas.  The economics of the project, though, I believe were only based on 10 years of customer growth. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So when you do these reinforcements for big pipe, it makes sense to look at as long a term as reasonably possible? 

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  I would absolutely agree with that. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So 10 to 20 years is not abnormal for your planning horizon?

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  It is not abnormal where we have a reasonable assurance or quality of information.  So in the Ottawa project we did look at 20 years, and we looked at the places to grow, act, and general drivers of zoning, for example, of where the residential subdivisions and those types of customers would be located.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  So that really leads into my next question, then, in terms of what do you forecast?  What load growth are you forecasting during this 10- to 20-year period?  

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  The load growth forecast would be the product of the number of customers by different rate class or by different customer type that we're assuming by an average peak hourly consumption that we would have derived.

     MR. WOLNIK:  I guess where I am going is really:  Do you forecast contract customer growth in this 20-year period?

MR. NACZYNSKI:  In the -- so I can answer that.  There is certainly two parts, if you will.

We do not look at it in the 10- to 20-year growth, and for that matter we don't look at specific contract customers in any of the growth forecasting that we're doing. 

     Those specific contract or large-volume type customers that you are referring to, we would assess those when those come in, into our planning process. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So you would do that on an individual basis when they're ready to sign up, essentially?

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  That's correct.  So we may have preliminary dialogue with those large-volume customers as we negotiate and look at what are the -- if there is reinforcement or what the needs for those customers would be, and then we would be looking to a gas delivery agreement ultimately to be signed for those contract customers.

And then that would then ultimately form the basis of future leave to construct to justify that project. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Great.  And those large-volume customers, that would be customers like Rate 125, for instance? 

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Most certainly Rate 125 customers. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Very good.  Thank you. 

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  The amount of installed capacity on our system wouldn't support a Rate 125 customer anywhere throughout our system, and I'm sure we will have more discussion on that in panel 14 as well, so...

     MR. WOLNIK:  You might.


Very good.  I had one more question, and I wanted to -- if you could look at tab 2 in the compendium, and it is B2, tab 3, schedule 1, table 2.

And the one in the compendium, I have to apologize.  I got an outdated version in here.  I think you just -- we looked at this a few minutes ago with, I think, Mr. Thompson, and I was just looking and comparing to what you had before.


The second-last row has been deleted in the updated version.  That's the reinforcement direct costs.

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  That is correct.  So those -- those direct costs are the direct labour, the IDC.  Those costs have been rolled up.

So this table here is intended to present, as with the rest of the reinforcement evidence, just the direct costs associated with the actual pipe, not the labour or direct labour as well as IDC.  Those costs are compiled in, for example, B2, tab 1, table 13 on page 45 of that.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  So you are not lowering your budget by the $14 million?

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  The budget is not lowering.  It's simply these, what we'd call, direct resource costs are included in another table, so this is only referring to the pipe-specific costs.

     MR. WOLNIK:  Very good.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:
     MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.  Thanks.  I have a couple of follow-up areas where I'd like some greater clarification.


Mr. Quinn was asking you about the Ottawa project, and I believe asked you to confirm -- just trying to -- that the change in costs, from what was original -- I understand originally 51 million up to 61.9 million; is that correct?

     MR. SMITH:  That's correct.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And you gave him an undertaking for explanation and lessons learned, but I would like to hear from you now, actually, as to the reasons for that.

     MR. SMITH:  Certainly.  There are three main drivers for the overage on the Ottawa reinforcement project.

Firstly, our complete geotech information was not available to us at the time of filing for the project, and after the estimate.

     When we subsequently received the complete geotech data, there was the presence of about 20 percent more rock than we had expected, and there was already about 40 percent of the project in rock, so there was a lot more rock.

     When we realized that, we made a business decision, and relative to the material in the pipe we made a decision to double-epoxy-coat the pipe, particularly where we require directional drilling, and the reason for that is it reduced -- it increased the cost of the material.

However, what it does reduce is -- failed drill shots can become very expensive, because you essentially ruin the pipe and you have to re-drill, and I can -- I know many examples where we've re-drilled a number of times.

     So in an effort to mitigate the risk, we made a decision to double-epoxy-coat the pipe.  Double epoxy-coating is about five times more expensive than single epoxy-coating.  However, it was very effective in ensuring that we didn't have to re-drill a number of our crossings.

     So the material cost is one of the variances.  The second, the most -- the most significant cost variance is relative to labour costs, and that was because we lost productivity on the project in that.  Of the 19 kilometres, seven kilometres were within a national -- the National Capital Commission property.


We failed to gain a working easement within that seven kilometres.  What that means to us is a working easement -- we obtained an easement to actually put the pipe in a location.  What we didn't get was the working easement, and that was the ability to allow us to have equipment, to excavate and pile materials and do all of those things.


So what it meant was we had to be on the public road allowance, which required us to have what I would consider extraordinary traffic control measures.  We had to truck everything away because we couldn't pile it.  And quite frankly, we lost a lot of productivity not having that working easement.  So that increased the costs quite significantly as well.


Thirdly, for two kilometres of the project we were in conflict with a municipal works project, a road reconstruction project.  And similar to ourselves, the municipality was unable to gain a working easement from the National Capital Commission, and therefore had to defer their project.


However, because we require a permit from the municipality to put our pipe in the ground, we made an agreement with them that we would install our pipe in a manner that would not conflict with their future roads program.


So we buried our pipe through agreement at a depth of 1.7 metres, which is quite a bit deeper than we normally would bury the pipe.  Unfortunately, that was in rock as well, so it cost us quite a bit of money to do that.


So those are the three main drivers for the overage on the project.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And if you were to redo the economics for that project, what would they look like now?

     MR. SMITH:  I'm sorry, I can't answer that question.  I could undertake to --

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Is that another panel, or... who is it that speaks to the economics?  Because as I understand it, the leave to construct was based on the lower cost, so I think -- and now the company, as I understand it, is proposing to build the higher cost into rates going forward?

So I think we want to make sure that --

     MR. STEVENS:  Just to be clear on that, Ms. Chaplin, Enbridge's proposal is to include within opening rate base at such time as the Ottawa project closes the forecast dollars.  Any difference between forecast dollars and actual spend would be presented for review and presentation in 2018.  All --

     MS. CHAPLIN:  As part of the position of the deferral -- is Ottawa part of the deferral account?

     MR. STEVENS: It is not part of the deferral account, but Enbridge has premised its opening rate base for 2014 on the agreed-upon capital spend for 2013.


To the extent that there’s overages -– and we've seen that there are a number of overages -– Enbridge won't seek to include those overages in rate base until 2018.  


So there is no earning on those amounts during this five-year IR term.

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Then I don’t need an undertaking for that. 

     And then Mr. Thompson was speaking to you about the business development, which was the NGV fuelling stations, I believe.  Is there an economic test for those? 

     MR. MURRAY:  There is, yes.  They have to be profitable before we put them in. 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  And all of those –- and they are, I presume, on that basis? 

     MR. MURRAY:  That's right. 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  First of all, the Ottawa project, did you do a risk analysis when you were you doing your estimate for the Ottawa project, in terms of the potential risks that you may face in executing the project?


For example, you talked about the geotechnical issue.  You did not do a geotechnical investigation, I assume from what you’re saying, before the project was started?

     MR. SMITH:  I apologize, I can’t answer that question.  It is our major projects group that executes on that work, so -- 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Let me ask the question another way.  Did you have a contingency in the project cost estimate for unforeseen circumstances? 

     MR. SMITH:  We did.

     DR. ELSAYED:  And how much was that?  

     MR. SMITH:  Subject to check, I believe it was 10 percent.

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Who would be able to answer the question about the level of preliminary work, engineering work that was done to scope the work, identify what the risks are, and to determine the level of contingency?

     MR. SMITH:  I could follow up.  I would have to speak with some of my colleagues to understand that. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  That would be helpful.

     MR. SMITH:  Certainly.

     MS. SEBALJ:  So why don't we mark that as J6.5. which is to provide an explanation of contingencies prior to the project. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J 6.5:  TO PROVIDE AN EXPLANATION OF CONTINGENCIES PRIOR TO THE OTTAWA PROJECT, AND PRE-ENGINEERING METHODOLOGY USED TO DEVELOP IT.

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes, confirm the level of contingency, and the methodology that was used to develop it.

     MR. SMITH:  The pre-engineering methodology; correct?

     DR. ELSAYED:  Yes.  Thank you.

My other question is a follow-up on Mr. Thompson’s questions about three areas that you’ve addressed: reinforcement, relocation and business development.


If you have a collective budget for those three areas -– I just want to understand the prioritization process –- and that budget had to be reduced, how would you accommodate that?


I understood from your response, for example, that in the relocation area you have very little flexibility.  So how would you accommodate a budget reduction, in terms of the total budget of those three areas? 

     MR. SMITH:  I am not certain what level of detail you would like.  But as an example, we've made what I would consider a very challenging commitment on maintaining the cost per customer to the pre-2012 limit.


We have contemplated a number of strategies to create productivity improvements within our operation, to help us to achieve that, and I can detail some of those.


As an example, we talked about joint utility trench.  Joint utility trench within the growth market is -– we have determined to be about 25 to 30 percent more efficient than direct-bury, the old methodology.


We have grown that marketplace proactively.  We're at about 57 percent penetration into that marketplace relative to comprehensive joint utility trench.


Our intent is to drive that marketplace further within the next five years, so that we can realize those efficiencies within that marketplace.



So I guess the answer to your question is that, first and foremost, we are going to look for productivities within our existing operation, to try to achieve our ability to complete all of our projects.


Where we cannot do that, there will obviously have to be some level of prioritization.  As Mr. Sanders pointed out yesterday, safety and reliability are going to take precedence over everything else.


I believe our customer commitments would have to come second to that.

So that would be the way we approach it. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  So apart from those two areas, you may have some flexibility in terms of timing? 

     MR. NACZYNSKI:  Insofar as we'd have obligations, from a relocation perspective, to meet the needs on our municipal franchise agreement.  Beyond that, we would be looking at growth and reinforcement, and Frank and I would be looking at saying:  Do I -– how many customers do I attach?  Does that drive the need for the reinforcement if I don't attach this subdivision until next year?  Perhaps I don't need the piece of reinforcement pipe to supply it.

That would become that balance and trade-off in that case.

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. Stevens, have you got any re-examination for this panel? 

     MR. STEVENS:  I do not. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  Well, the panel is excused with our thanks.

And we will break for 15 minutes.  We're sort of at an awkward time, so why don't we break until 11:00 o'clock and we will start with the next panel?  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 10:42 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:03 a.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  

     We've got -- I see we've got the correction to Exhibit I.B18; is that correct?  The big table you were talking about?

     MR. STEVENS:  That is correct.  We've distributed to all parties, and we will provide electronically as well, an update to what was filed as K5.6 yesterday.  In effect, what we have provided is updated versions of table 1 and table 2, which attach to SEC Interrogatory 91.  The brief handout we provided along with it provides context to what has changed.

     And as you can see, we identify the fact that there are several items within Exhibit K5.6 yesterday which were incorrectly grouped, and so as a result we'd ask that that table be disregarded and that the attached documents replace it. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Let's give it a new number, because it is the corrected version.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  K6.1.


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.   

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  CORRECTED VERSION OF EXHIBIT K5.6.
     MS. CONBOY:  Mr. O'Leary, is your panel ready to be affirmed?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  We are, Madam Chair.  We believe only one panellist requires affirmation.  That is Mr. Schofield, who is second from your right, or -- I am always -- it is difficult -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  That's all right.  Through power of elimination, we can figure out who it is.  Thank you. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  While that is occurring, we have one correction arising out of the examination of Ms. Au yesterday. 

     Mr. Shepherd asked Linda Au yesterday -- and this was in relation to his compendium, and at page 2 of that compendium, which is the comparison of the five-year core capital spending, at page 107, lines 8 through 16, Mr. Shepherd asked whether Ms. Au would accept, subject to check, whether or not the line item on page 2 of that exhibit included CIS. 

     So you see there is another -- and he said "does that $450 million includes CIS", and he said -- he asked her to accept, subject to check, whether it was included there.  And she accepted, subject to check. 

     The fact is, after checking, it does include CIS.  So the 450 million does include CIS. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. O'Leary.


Go ahead.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 4

James Schofield, Affirmed. 


Erik Naczynski, Previously Affirmed.


Deirdre Broude, Previously Affirmed.


Chris Moore, Previously Affirmed.

     MR. O'LEARY:  So Madam Chair, this is panel 4, which is system integrity, mains and services.

And I will ask the panel now, in respect to the evidence, and I am going to ask you, Mr. Moore, on behalf of the panel, were the prefiled evidence, the answers to interrogatories and the responses given at the technical conference prepared by the panellists or under their direction and control?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And to the best of the knowledge of the panellists, is the evidence accurate?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And do you adopt it for the purposes of this proceeding?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes, we do. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.


We do not have any examination in-chief, Madam Chair, so the panel is available for cross-examination. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Do we know who is going first?  Mr. Quinn?

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I am going first, and again, I may be able to give back some of my time with the cooperation of the witnesses and ensuring we have clarity in some the undertakings from yesterday, as Ms. Sebalj suggested previously. 


MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN:
     MR. QUINN:  So where I would like to start, actually, is yesterday's transcript.  We delved into an issue, when I was speaking with the panel from yesterday, Ms. Sebalj followed up, and they seemed to get less clear, and then Mr. Shepherd asked for an undertaking later in the day. 

     But if I could ask to be turned up page 12 of the transcript from yesterday -- thank you, Ms. Adams -- panel, do you have that?

I am presuming that is a yes, so it is right at the top of the page, starting at line 2.


When I was asking Mr. Sanders about, in context, the new nature of these regulatory changes, Mr. Sanders says:

" That's correct.  And I might add too, Mr. Quinn, I would also consider the -- going deeper into it and looking at the code requirements in Z-662, the language it talks about specifically identifying risk and failures before they occur, I see that as one of our fundamental shifts going into this next IR term.  Our obligation is to identify those risks and hazards and mitigate them before the failure occurs.  I see that as a fairly fundamental shift. "

     Then further, if you would advance to page 15, again, I was asking about -- and in fact, it was in the acceptance of the initial undertaking for the distribution system integrity management program implementation, starting at -- actually, at the top of -- or, sorry, bottom of page 14.  Thank you, Ms. Adams.

Leading into it, I say:

"Now, I do respect that it does take some time to perform studies, but would you agree with me that these are not new requirements first instituted in 2012?"

     Ms. Lawler answers:

" Correct.  But if I could clarify, the need to have a systematic, structured way to evaluate risks and determine if the mitigations that the company has are sufficient, and that we are identifying all failures and -- that could happen.  And getting in front of those failures, again, I believe that there is a fundamental shift in the nature of the legislation with respect to the TSSA code adoption document of November 2012."

     Now, that was where I was with the panel yesterday, and I had some dialogue with Mr. Shepherd, because he was very interested in the capital costs.  And I had asked in this section of the transcript about the -- when the TSSA first introduced these requirements.  And I asked the panel, subject to check, would they take subject to check it was 2006 and the first implementation would be, subject to check, to April 30th, 2008.

There was agreement and concurrence there, and I thought after that it became less clear.

     So Mr. Shepherd asked for FS-08706 director's orders to be produced by the company by undertaking.  Unfortunately, we don't have that undertaking available, but I would like to read just section 8, which is three paragraphs from that, which will give it context.  

     So section 8 is part of the appendix that was attached to the director's orders, and it was called "Hazard identification and control", and section 8.1 says:

"Gas distribution companies should identify and document hazards that can lead to a failure or damage incident with significant consequences."

     8.2 reads: 

"The methods and data used for hazard identification should be documented, taking into consideration the primary causes and any additional failure or damage incident causes that are relevant."  

     And further, 8.3 reads:

"Where hazards that may lead to a failure or damage incident with significant consequences are identified, the gas distribution company should, A), assess and document the risks associated with such hazards in accordance with the provisions of sections 9 to 9.4 of this appendix; B), implement and document actions to monitor the four conditions that can lead to failures or damage incidents; and C), implement and document actions to eliminate or mitigate conditions that can lead to failure or damage incidents."

     Now, I appreciate, panel, you don't have that in front of you, so it is harder to answer specific questions to it, so I'm not going to ask you.  But I wanted that read into the record so that could be checked subject to your undertaking provision of that director's order.  I wanted to provide that in leading into the questions that I am going to, in terms of your respective programs. 

     Yesterday, two undertakings were accepted by the panel that we asked for the provision of the original asset management plan and what fundamental risks the company has identified that are recent that have driven some of the increases in costs. 

     So I would like that heard, I guess, in context, so that if it wasn't clear in our request for undertaking, 2006 was the original issuance of this document, and the company has referred to changes that happened in 2012. 

     To the extent that there's differences between 2006 and 2012, I can accept that those may be recent changes.  But when we're asking about recent changes, we would expect that the 2006 initiation of this program and requirement by the TSSA ought to have given the company some time for consideration.  

     Stopping there, are there any questions?  

     MR. MOORE:  Mr. Quinn, I think I can answer the question as it relates to what Ms. Lawler said yesterday.  She said that there is a fundamental shift in the nature of the legislation, with respect to the TSSA code adoption document of November 2012. 

     Our SEC Interrogatory No. 113 -- if it's possible to pull that up? 

     MS. CONBOY:  I am struggling with what the question is 

first.  I am trying to follow along here, Mr. Quinn, and I am having a tough time. 

     MR. QUINN:  Maybe I should have asked them to undertake to provide that document in the morning, earlier in the morning, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  So how does that assist us now?  

     MR. QUINN:  Well, what assists us now, certainly in context, I was trying to establish that these are not new 

changes. 

I had asked them if they would accept, subject to check, that these orders were, one, in place, and two, there was a requirement to deliver the plan. 

     They accepted that.  There was no response to say that -- to contradict that.  But when Ms. Sebalj talked to them about the recent relevant changes the regulations required of them, they said there was nothing that preceded this 2012 code adoption document, which is inconsistent. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Are you asking them to clarify?  

     MR. QUINN:  I am asking them, when they provide the 

undertakings for recent changes that have driven costs, that they do that in the context of what is actually recent versus what may have been in place for six or seven years.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Does that assist you?  

     MR. MOORE:  I do believe that SEC 113 answers the question, if I understand the question to be what's changed in 2012.

     It is very clear that -- in SEC 113, in our second paragraph of the response -- the most significant change from 2007 to 2011 version of 662 and the corresponding -- as you know, with the TSSA adopts or modifies in a code adoption document the 662 code. 

     So the corresponding TSSA code adoption documents in 2012 required the company to apply integrity management processes to all distribution assets, which previously was limited to those above 30 percent of the specified minimum number yield strength.

So that is something like 400 kilometres out of our full 36,000 kilometres of mains.  So this is a significant change, and we have followed through and created these integrity management programs for those assets under 30 percent SMYS, and that is what is included in this filing.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Madam Chair, I don't know if it is helpful, since I am implicated in this exchange, if I could provide some clarity. 

     My question, which I had thought was just a clarification of an answer that Mr. Quinn had received -- although it was subject to check -- related not to the actual regulatory change, which I think we all know occurred, but whether or not there was a director's order that preceded it.  

So often my understanding with TSSA is that there will be a document that precedes the actual regulatory change, and that gives companies advance warning that this is coming and that they can begin to implement a program prior to that. 

     And there is a bit of an inconsistency on the record, in my view, because there was an answer given -- subject to check, in defence of Ms. Lawler -- and then when I took her to that same line of questioning, she took me to the asset plan.  And in the asset plan it is a reiteration of what you just provided us, which is that there was a regulatory change. 

     I don't think that is in dispute.  The only question is when the company would have known officially, though not of the regulatory change itself, that a new standard was being applied from the greater than 30 percent to all of the system. 

     So I think -- I don't know if I’ve added clarity or confusion, but I think the confusion is:  Was the company aware or not of a director's order that we now know actually exists, and when was that director's order issued?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  We would be happy to answer that question specifically.  

     MR. QUINN:  It may be helpful to the Panel, Mr. O'Leary, in getting that answer, because Mr. Sanders referred to this yesterday.  If the company wants to identify any changes between the original director's order and the subsequent code adoption that is relevant as a significant recent risk, I accept that. 

     Looking at all distribution plant, including under 30 percent SMYS, I have an advantage, Mr. Moore, but it is contemplated in the original director's orders that were issued in 2006.  

     So I would ask the company to -- they can provide that 

undertaking relative to what Ms. Sebalj asked and to 

differentiate any changes, and those, to me, are the recent 

changes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  That is a clarification to the undertaking that was taken yesterday.  Is that correct, in your understanding, Ms. Sebalj?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  Yes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  You are not asking them to answer -- speak to that right now?  Or you are just saying this now to clarify what was sought yesterday?  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. QUINN:  In my original cross-examination, I was going to delve into what recent aspects have changed.  I don't think that is necessary after where we went yesterday, as long as this is seen as overarching.

Then I only have two areas that I want -- three areas I want to follow up on, and I will be done for today. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Now I understand, and, Mr. O'Leary, your clients are clear now?

     MR. O'LEARY:  Yes. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please proceed. 

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you very much. 

     If I may, then, I think the first area I would like to start with is B2, tab 5, schedule 2, attachment 4, and if I could assist -- go further to page 2 of that evidence, I am going to stop trying to do it as quickly as Ms. Adams; I will just rely on her.  Thank you.  

     So table 1, which is on the screen, is the capital summary for the maximum operating pressure program.  And I think the evidence captures it, but so we have it in context -- I don't know if it is you, Mr. Moore -- can you just describe in 30 seconds or less what is included in this program?

     MS. BROUDE:  Certainly, Mr. Quinn, I can answer that 

question. 

     This program, if I can take you to page 4 of 8 of the same evidence, it involves fully the records assessment of 

approximately 3,500 kilometres of pipeline.  It involves ensuring the records identify the maximum operating pressure through the original testing information. 

     It involves then, where necessary, field verifications of any fittings, any of the pipeline elements, to ensure that they're rated for the proper operating pressures for the system, then any kind of remediation or mitigation that is required to ensure that these pipelines that are working at extra high pressure -- which is oftentimes over 650 pounds -- are operating according to the code requirements.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     MS. BROUDE:  There is a records management and governance piece involved in that as well. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So it is records assessment, field 

verifications and -- did I hear you say -- I think it is there, remediation.

So does that include the dollars for the mains replacement?  Or the MOP study would be included in this bucket, and not in the general means replacement bucket? 

     MS. BROUDE:  I am glad you brought my attention to that.  There will be remediation involved.  We are not certain of the extent of the remediation that is going to be involved, and because this is a variable element of this program, we have not budgeted in this capital cycle remediation involved. 

     But should any remediation be required for this program, it will fall under mains replacement. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Then I am kind of surprised at the 

answer. 

     If we could go back to page 2, then, and the table that provided just the cost, in 2013 you budgeted about $800,000 to look at the initial 500 kilometres of pipe? 

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So in simple dollars, that's about a hundred -- I am going to make sure I get my math right --about $1,600 per kilometre of pipe.

You have a remaining 3,000 kilometres, so approximately six times the amount of pipe further to review, and yet you are asking for a 400 percent annualized increase in those costs, or said differently, you are asking for about $10 million to review the remaining 3,000, when it costs you 800,000 for the first 500.

     Somewhere in there, the math doesn't work for me.  So maybe you can help me out with -- specifically if you have an answer, Mr. Moore --

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. QUINN:  -- what have you found that has led to that level of cost increase?  

     MR. MOORE:  I just want to correct my friend, Ms. Broude.  We did budget in 2014 to do 525 kilometres, 2015, 600 kilometres, and 2016, 600 kilometres, of that total 3,500 kilometres.  So we are not talking about, in those three years, doing the full 3,500 kilometres evaluation, so that helps with the math.

     MS. BROUDE:  So -- but further to that, if I could take you to table 2, the field verification element was not included in the 2013 budget.  These activities will commence in 2014, where you see the A, 1.8 million, 2.1 million.  So this is the piece of the -- of that difference you see from 2013 to 2014.

     MR. QUINN:  So you have done no field remediations to this point?  

     MS. BROUDE:  We have done remediations associated with pressure reductions and installing district stations, but no -- I am not certain, actually, if we can say we have done none, but the bulk of it is going to be planned for the 2014 to '16 period of time.  

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.


So what is the basis for the estimate of essentially almost $2 million a year for field verifications for what I understood Mr. Moore to clarify a comparable amount of pipe, 500 to 600 kilometres per year?  

     MR. MOORE:  So -- 

     MR. QUINN:  When I saw those figures originally that went up, I thought you had to actually do significant remediations, but I am reading in here this is still not addressing the capital cost of remediation, but it is just assessing the level of risk that you may currently have.

     MR. MOORE:  Can I -- is it -- sorry, is it table 2 on page 6 of 8 that you are looking at, in terms of the field verification costs?  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes. 

     MR. MOORE:  Okay.  So "field verifications" means going out, locating the questionable -- like, from the records where we find questionable sections of pipe, digging them up, and validating that they're the wall thickness, grade, that we believe they are based on the records. 

     So it is a verifiable, traceable, complete record we get from that verification.

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What I am trying to understand -- 

     MR. MOORE:  It's not repairing the pipe.

     MR. QUINN:  I understand the differentiation --

     MR. MOORE:  We'd be cutting out a section --


MR. QUINN:  I understand the differentiation --


MR. MOORE:  -- and analyze it. 

     MR. QUINN:  -- you're making, and -- so what is the -- what is the basis for that estimate?  These are significant dollars to go out and verify what you thought you had, you have, or not.  

     MS. BROUDE:  Well, the basis of this information really is directionally from the work that's been done in 2012 and 2013 on this work, and the certainty or uncertainties that we are finding in our records associated with these mains.  

     MR. QUINN:  So have you found significant differences that require additional verifications?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes.  So -- 

     MR. QUINN:  Maybe I can suggest -- is any of that evidence on the record in this proceeding?  

     MS. BROUDE:  It is on the record, yes. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  If you just give us the references to that. 

     MS. BROUDE:  It's on page 3 of 8 in B2, tab 5, schedule 2, attachment 4, at the lower -- we're not -- we haven't identified it specifically, but we have given examples of the kinds of issues that we have found, or the significant findings.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Maybe I should be more specific.  I thought you were providing me the basis for your estimates.  What you're suggesting here is there is some anecdotal evidence in here that some things have been found. 

     If you could put on the record somewhere -- and I hesitate with the undertaking -- but you're asking to spend $10 million over three years when you spent $800,000 in the first year, and you haven't identified to us in any way a reason for that significant increase and where the cost estimate came from.  

     MS. BROUDE:  So for the 2013 spend, the intent originally was that this would be -- sorry, where is table 2?  

     MR. MOORE:  Can I just interject?  You said "spend" but what you're speaking to is the 2013 budget.  And we did over-spend that budget significantly, which gave us the basis for these larger -- what you're seeing is larger estimates for '14, '15 and '16. 

     MR. QUINN:  I see you looking down, Mr. Moore.  Are we talking about an undertaking that would only take a few minutes to just provide that information, put it on the record?

     MR. MOORE:  Sorry, I am looking down at the actual evidence, but when we look at page 3, the unsuitable pressure test records necessitating the installation and commissioning of pressure-regulating station --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Moore, I --


MR. MOORE:  -- I can explain what that required us to do, if that gives you a sense for the costs --

     MR. QUINN:  No, no, actually, it doesn't, and that is the problem, sir.

With due respect, I went through this.  I was looking for the costs, and I don't see them, but I see an increase --


MS. BROUDE:  Right.  Well, I believe our actuals came in just slightly in excess of $2 million in work that has been done in 2013. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Would you be able to put that information on the record?  Just simply:  Here is our experience in the program?

If it is a five-minute undertaking, Madam Chair, I think that that would be worthwhile.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Well, I am back to what we were talking about before the break.  This is in the evidence.  The witnesses are here to speak to their evidence.  This is something that could have easily been asked in an interrogatory, Mr. Quinn, and it is coming up now. 

     MR. QUINN:  I understand, Madam Chair, this evidence came out in June.  We didn't have the actuals that they have.  They just produced the actuals for 2013.


MS. CONBOY:  I see.


MR. QUINN:  It is a significant cost overrun -- sorry, significant increase in cost estimated for the program, and again, we're asked to test the rigour of their capital process.  And I am saying if they have a five-minute undertaking -- because she is looking down at the figures -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  I see.  No, fair enough.  Is that an easy number to get, Mr. O'Leary?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  I am not sure about easy.  I just wanted to be certain I understand the undertaking. 

     So are you asking for a breakdown of the 2013 actuals, or are you asking for a build-up budget for the forecast years?  

     MS. CONBOY:  Could you go back to the table, please, Bonnie?  

     MR. QUINN:  Table 2, I think, would be most helpful, because Enbridge did lead us to that, where it is broken out. 

     And if you have actual figures for 2013 that fall into those categories on a per-kilometre basis, presuming of course -- and you can add whatever caveats you want that you went to the higher-risk locations first.  How you believe that that then translates into those forward forecasts.  That is all I would be looking for.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  We will try and provide a response. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  That is J6.6. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.6:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF THE 2013 ACTUALS ON A PER-KILOMETRE BASIS, AND EXPLAIN HOW THAT TRANSLATES INTO THE FORECAST SPENDING INCREASES.
     MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     I only have questions -- and I'm going to just leave it to one more area that I think we can handle fairly quickly.  It's -- I won't even take us -- well, I guess maybe I should take us to the evidence, so that...

     If you would turn up table 1 of B2, tab 5, schedule 3, page 1, now, this is generically service replacements, and frankly, yeah, I have gone through the evidence.  I understand some of the challenges you are facing, and I am sympathetic to the fact that you are going to try to expedite some of your programs, which is leading to significant increases again in capital requirements. 

     Part of my question is likely going to be subsumed in the response to the undertakings referred to earlier, so I think I just will ask this one question. 

     You have contractors do most of your service replacement work in general; is that correct?  

     MR. MOORE:  In the category, for example, of miscellaneous service replacements, it is about half and half, contractors and company employees. 

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     What I am looking for -- so it doesn't require a mathematical undertaking:  Can you provide your contractor cost for replacing, A, a steel service -- sorry, replacing and abandoning a steel service?  So what is the cost of putting it in and abandoning the steel service, versus putting in a new plastic service and abandoning the plastic service?

These are contractor costs that you would have received in 2013.  To the extent you are not comfortable with 2013 because you believe that is confidential information, I would be happy with an aggregated cost from your contractors in 2012, but these are line items in your contracts; correct?

MR. O'LEARY:  If I can just add one note of caution, which is that to produce the specific costs by individual contractor might get into commercially sensitive areas, that one contractor would definitely like to know what another contractor is charging. 

     And I guess I would leave it up to the panel to see if they can answer the question.  

     MS. CONBOY:  I think Mr. Quinn gave that caveat, though. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  That it could be aggregated? 

     MS. CONBOY:  If I understood him correctly, yes. 

     MR. QUINN:  Aggregated from 2012 and 2013, all of the 

respective contractor prices you got, and just -- I am looking specifically what the abandonment cost is for steel service versus a plastic service. 

     It may be embedded in your cost for replacement, but to the extent you have to break it out, then tell us what that break-out is, because it impacts depreciation and site restoration, and that is what I would like for the later panel.  

     MR. MOORE:  So, yes, we don't have the information right now. 

     MR. QUINN:  No, no, I understand. 

     MR. MOORE:  But I want to make sure I understand. 

You said the contractor costs for abandonment --  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes. 

     MR. MOORE:  -- of a service?  You said a steel service and a plastic service? 

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, I want them differentiated. 

     MR. MOORE:  Okay.  It will take us some effort, but we can do that.  

     And we will put caveats to it; for example, part of our evidence here is telling the story that it is much more efficient to be replacing a service in a planned way than in an unplanned, emergency way. 

     We know these are the service lines that take gas to people's homes, to businesses. 

     The leaks and corrosion which drives the replacement capital requirements for miscellaneous service replacements, those are -- they're unplanned.  Right?  

     MR. QUINN:  Sir, I very much accept your -- 

     MR. COONEY:  So the costs are higher, is what I am saying. 

     MR. QUINN:  To the extent that you want to distinguish it to say these are project-related costs, and they are going to do 500 of them, or this is a one-off that is replaced on an emergency basis, if you want to differentiate those two, I think that is an excellent distinction. 

     MR. MOORE:  Okay.  

     MS. CONBOY:  This is to assist you with which panel, Mr. Quinn?  

     MR. QUINN:  Panel 14.  We'd asked some questions about costs of abandonment, and it, to me -– intuitively, something didn't add up.  So I thought, as opposed to having a debate about whether this is right or not, I would go to an actual cost and that would help inform. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     MS. SEBALJ:  J6.7. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.7:  TO PROVIDE AN AGGREGATED CONTRACTOR COST FOR 2012 AND 2013 OF ABANDONMENT FOR A STEEL SERVICE VERSUS A PLASTIC SERVICE.

     MR. QUINN:  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.

Mr. Thompson, are you next?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MS. CONBOY:  Please go ahead.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  

     Panel, I see one of your areas of responsibility is system integrity and reliability; is that correct?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And there's some numbers here I just want to get clear in my mind.  And to do that, what I would like you to do, first of all, is to turn up the asset plan.  This is Exhibit -- there was one filed yesterday. It's     K5.2, which is the 2012 asset plan, at page 57.

You have, really, three documents here.  

The second is the 2013 asset plan, which is B2, tab 10, schedule 1, at page 84.  

     And then the third is B2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 2, which has got a chart for system integrity and reliability capital requirements.  

     And I am just trying to -- to put this in context, let me take you first to -- 

     MR. MOORE:  Sorry, what was the third reference?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  The third is B2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 2.  While we have those pages open, let me just tell you what I am getting at. 

     So you do the asset plan in 2012, and I will take you to some passages there to describe what it is you are anticipating, but at page 57, we have numbers there; these are unloaded numbers, as I understand it, in this asset plan, for system integrity costs of $94.5 million in 2012, $108 million and some-odd for 2013, and then other numbers going out to 2021; correct?  

     MR. MOORE:  That's what we read. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You see those numbers?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Then we come forward to the next asset plan, where we see in 2012 you have spent $105 million, it looks like.  And I am now looking at the 2013 asset plan.  

     MS. BROUDE:  Mm-hmm. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That is 105 million, unloaded.  But it drops down to $98 million in 2013, which I assume is a forecast in this particular plan. 

     Then we ramp up to these higher numbers going out to 2014 and beyond.  Do you see that?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then you come forward to the budget 

number for 2013 in B2, tab 5, schedule 1, which is $84 million.  That's an unloaded number, I am told.

Are we right there, so far?  

     MS. BROUDE:  That's right, yes. 

     MR. MOORE:  We're following you. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So what this is translating to me is that in 2012, you were ramping up your system integrity cost to address things that you describe on page 39 and 40 of this 2012 report. 



But by the time you get to 2013, you are budgeting way below what you were talking about in 2012, and even what you were talking about in 2013. 

     So it looks to me like you were saying:  We're going to ramp up this spending.  We weren't actually going to do that, but now in years 2014 and beyond, we're ramping it up even more.  

     Am I missing something here with these numbers?  

     MS. BROUDE:  I think in general -- I think one point to consider is the fact that, you know, our asset plan is -- it's a living document, and it changes according to the risks that we identify, emerging risks, known risks, and there are certain levels of certainty and uncertainty associated with it. 

     And the other point that I would like to make is the 

asset plan is really directional in nature.  It is not a 

budgeting tool, but it really informs the budget and informs what the needs of the business are. 

     So you will see, according to -- and you know, trying to comply with the new legislation, we have to understand our assets and the condition of our assets.  We endeavoured to do this through studies. 

     So you will see when we developed our asset plan in 2012, that we identify that we were going to conduct a number of studies to really understand the health and condition of our assets, instead of making grand assumptions and including these in our budgets. 

     So 2012 saw the amp fitting study that we conducted.  By the end of 2012 and beginning of 2013, we're seeing the results of the amp fitting study, which is one of the biggest drivers that we have associated with our asset plan. 

So in a roundabout way, what I am trying to say is this is kind of a journey that we have been going through in understanding our assets, and trying to map the requirements, then, to the budget constraints that we have.  

Does that answer the question?  Or is that a very roundabout way --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is an answer; I don't know that it answers the question, but perhaps I could do it this way.

There was an exhibit -- and I don't have my A exhibit with me, but I think it was -- this was the bar graph in one of the A exhibits that had the system integrity spend in it.  I think it is A2, tab 1, schedule 3.  This is in my notes from the cross-examination of that earlier panel.  And I think it might be on page 2.

Does anybody -- oh, yes, there it is.  Okay.  Perfect.  

     And so what is being shown in these numbers in -- as I understand it, in red is system integrity; is that your understanding?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so when we looked at these earlier on in the piece, we see from 2007 to 2011, 152, 157, 145, 159, 161, which I assume are loaded costs; is that right?  

     MS. BROUDE:  I am not certain.  I didn't prepare this document, so I am not certain if that is loaded or not. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, let's take it subject to check that they're loaded. 

     MS. BROUDE:  Certainly.  Okay. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that is an average of, you know, sort of in the 155 range?  I am just eyeballing it.  Would you agree?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then it jumps up into the 195 range in 2012 and 2013 in the Board-approved, according to this document.  Do you see that?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And then it jumps up again another 50 million in 2014 and following.  And so it is that trend that I am focusing on.

It looks to me pretty clearly that you accelerated your system integrity spending by $40 million between '11 and '13, and now you want to go up another 50, and it is all for the same reason, these changes in legislation and the Bruno incident and that kind of thing.

Am I missing something?  

     MS. BROUDE:  I would add aging infrastructure on -- as well as one of our major drivers --

     MR. THOMPSON:  What is it?  Aging?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Aging, aging infrastructure.  We have assets that are reaching the end of their life cycle.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, they're one year older than they were in 2013.  

     MR. MOORE:  And that may cause a leak, and one leak is -- can be very expensive, depending on the location and the type of pipe that fails in that regard. 

     So it does -- to me it is intuitive that as these 1950s, '60s vintage steel lines get older, we will have more corrosion and more failures, and that's what we're seeing.

     MS. BROUDE:  And 2012 then brought along the extension of our inline inspection program to the 20 to 30 percent specified minimum yield strength pipelines, which added additional pressures on our budgeting.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, that all goes back to the regulations and the orders and that kind of thing, does it?  

     MS. BROUDE:  It does, yes. 

     MR. MOORE:  And our review of this system and our -- you know, our budget that is in here is based on, you know, what we view as necessary to keep the system safe.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I understand that that is your view, and we're testing that -- 

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- as to whether it is reasonable or not in historical context.


All right.  Let me move on then to the replacement mains piece of this, B2, tab 5, schedule 2.  And the numbers there at page 1, again, we're seeing from 2013, I assume this is budget, 18.237 million?  Or is it actual?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes, budget. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  We're seeing again a significant jump in those dollars.


And just so that I get this straight in my mind, are those loaded or unloaded dollars?  

     MS. BROUDE:  These were all direct costs. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Direct costs?  And so coming back then to B2, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2 on page 44, at line 1.2.2 there's a line item, "Replacement" -- and it is under the category "Mains" -- of $71 million for budget 2013.  Do you see that?  

     MR. MOORE:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And that, we were told, is loaded.  Are we right?  

     MR. MOORE:  We didn't -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You didn't do the loading?

     MR. MOORE:  We can speak to the direct costs in tab 5 if you would like.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, okay.  But can you help me with where they sit on the next page, B2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 45, table 13?

These are unloaded costs, and I don't see a line item there that deals with mains replacement. 

     MR. MOORE:  It would be in the "System integrity and reliability" line item, B2-5-1.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  It is in there?  

     MR. MOORE:  The replacement mains, yes.

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So the 18,237 is part of the 84.7?  Is that what you're telling me?  

     MR. MOORE:  18,237 you're getting from table 2, page 5 of 5 of B2, tab 5, schedule 2?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes. 

     MR. MOORE:  Yes.  Yes, it is our understanding that would be within that line on table 13 on page 45 of 45, B2, tab 1, schedule 1, "System integrity and reliability."

     MR. THOMPSON:  And the rest is what?  

     MR. MOORE:  The rest?  Sorry? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The rest -- so that is -- 18.237 of $84.7 million is replacement mains, is what I understand you to be telling me. 

     MS. BROUDE:  So the rest refers to all of the other evidence in B2, tab 5.  So it is B2, tab 5-2-3-4-5, so it is all of the -- so it is mains services, stations...

     MR. MOORE:  And that table is table 2.  Deirdre -- Ms. Broude mentioned B2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 8 of 9. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  thanks.


MR. MOORE:  Table 2 you will see the 84,724,000, which matches the 84.7 million on that page 45 of 45. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I must be looking at the wrong –- is it B2, tab 5, schedule 1, page 8?  

     MR. MOORE:  Correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, yes.  All right.  Thank you very much.  


All right.  So with respect to replacement mains, then, what are the -- is there any economic feasibility test that applies here?  Or is it -- are the criteria something else that drive these expenditures?  

     MR. MOORE:  Well, I can speak in particular to the miscellaneous main replacements.  They are -- virtually all of the work we did in 2013 was corrosion, leaks or severe corrosion.  They're replacements, really, we have to do, because the -- the main is leaking.  The leak survey program picks up a leak or the public calls in, and we have to go out and fix them.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I understand if it happens, you've got to go out.  But how do you forecast?

     MR. MOORE:  With great difficulty. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right. 

     MR. MOORE:  That's a true answer.  We forecast based on the historicals, and in the miscellaneous main replacements category, and we are at great risk if we're off on that number.  

     MS. BROUDE:  Another forecast element that we use is the results of our inline inspection program.  So any mains replacements required from that inline inspection program will be then forecasted in advance into this mains replacement. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So are you -- 

     MR. MOORE:  Just to add, that is only, right now, something like 4- or 500 kilometres out of 36,000 kilometres of mains.  So it doesn't provide us a full picture in advance of failures on that system.  It is the best we can do with that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I am understanding this better, but -- so the forecasts that you are using for this five-year period of probable leaks, do they parallel the forecasting basis that you used for the purposes of 2013?

Or have you, in some way, adjusted those to come up with more forecast leaks, and therefore more money?  

     MR. MOORE:  Sorry, are we talking to which table now?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am talking to the topic that you raised, leaks. 

     MR. MOORE:  Oh, the -- and the one I mentioned was the miscellaneous main replacements.  So it is, frankly, a best-efforts guess at the amount we're going to have to spend on those, based on historicals, those leaks. 

     We did over-spend quite significantly in 2013 in that area, and we're at risk in 2014, 2015 and 2016, in my mind, in that area.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So did you take the over-spend as the base?  

     MR. MOORE:  We didn't know the over-spend in 2013 when we budgeted for the 2014 numbers, 2014, 2015 and 2016.  We had failures in systems after the fact. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But you based it on leaks, if I understood your evidence correctly?  If I don't understand this, please explain it. 

     MR. MOORE:  I am trying my best. It is based on where we had to replace pipe, and we have to replace pipe typically because it is leaking. 

     An example I can give would be sort of near here, Bayview and York Mills in Toronto.  Last year, we had to have a 12-inch steel pipeline system in that area. It was built in 1962, and through the year we found some 

corrosion leaks.  

To give you a sense, that is a very busy 

intersection; there is a lot of other infrastructure in that area.  It is very busy traffic-wise, so we had to do the work with a very complex traffic management plan to keep people safe.  We had to do most of the work at night.  

That cost us to replace that section of leaking main -- which had about six or more compression couplings on it, which we've talked about in the evidence here.  To us, they're very -- we have to be very careful working 

around them, we have to take different precautions, and that cost us about $1.65 million.  

That was unplanned, unexpected, and that can happen tomorrow, you know. 

     So that's the kind of thing that fits into that category of miscellaneous mains replacements. 

     So to budget for it is very challenging.  We do our best based on historicals, and asset plan inputs, and our tacit knowledge.  And that is what we came up with. 

     MS. BROUDE:  I would say, based on historical and based on the mains replacements and the condition of some of the assets we have been finding, we are going to be very challenged in the next couple of years to be managing to this budget for certain.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we have heard that theme quite 

repetitively. 

     How do you forecast the number of leaks you are likely to have in 2015 or 2016?  Do you apply any science to that, or is it just pull a number out of the air?  

     MS. BROUDE:  This program in general, when we talk about our capital requirements for mains replacements, it covers a number of categories. 

     So miscellaneous replacement of mains is just one of the categories. 

     We've got the maximum allowable pressure verification 

program.  We have the inline inspection and assessment program -- and if I could go to the inline inspection and assessment program, because that is probably the program that gives us the best visibility into the types of work that we need to do with our system. 

     So we send these very -- you know, smart pigs we call them, down the line and through the -- with this technology, we're able to identify where we've had damages, where we have corrosion, where we've got issues that need to be addressed immediately. 

     We can, from this information and through analytics, 

predict where we will have problems in these pipelines down the road three to five years through analytics, which -- I don't understand all of the technical details, but they can show these corrosion defects and determine when it is we're going to have a problem. 

     So there are programs like that, where we can identify when we need to be doing work on these pipelines. 

     So in other -- other -- and from this program, we can predict, when we expand our work to the 20 to 30 percent, what kinds of work we can expect to find from this program. 

     But from the other programs, I think, no, the level of 

certainty is -- uncertainty is quite high for us.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is there anything we can do, take a five-year average, to get some sort of trend with respect to the frequency of these occurrences?  Or is it, as I say, you just simply pull a number out of the air and cross your fingers?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Well, I would say that, you know, the historic information certainly does help.  But the historic information really doesn't translate directly to our new legislative requirements. 

     We are employing newer and more sophisticated leak-

monitoring technologies, corrosion-detection technologies.  And once we have found information associated with our system that causes our risk, we have a duty of care to act accordingly to mitigate the risks associated with it. 

     So we have created our budget on a best-efforts basis on what we know and what we're confident about. 

     And you will see in other pieces of evidence that we have provided that the variability has been removed from these programs, and there have been significant dollars. 

     So when we have been building up our budget, management has put increasing pressure on us to try to manage at the lowest cost possible.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will leave it there and try to extract something from the historical dollars to come up with something that is reasonable.  

     I believe that those are all of the questions I have, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:
     DR. ELSAYED:  Just one question, based on the last summary about the inline inspection program.

First, I guess the cost of that program, is that part of your O&M budget?  

     MS. BROUDE:  I'm sorry?  

     DR. ELSAYED:  The costs of the inline inspection program. 

     MS. BROUDE:  The inspection itself is an O&M cost.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  And how do you determine the magnitude or the level of -- the magnitude of that program, in terms of how many of your pipelines are inspected on an interval of that inspection?  

     MS. BROUDE:  Okay.  So we have quite a well defined program.  We have two pieces of it, really.  

There's a 30 percent and over program. We know exactly what the kilometres of main are associated with that, and we have a frequency.  We inline inspect these every 

seven years.  So on a seven-year interval, we are re-inspecting. 

     From the 20 to 30 program, we have identified targeted 

pipelines that we're going to be inspecting.  I believe it is two pipelines annually that we will be inspecting.  

     So that's the -- so the inspection costs are pretty consistent.  What is not consistent, then, really is any of the verification and remediation portions associated with it. 

     And then of course we have the cap -- another capital piece is retrofitting the line in order to enable it to be inline inspected, and that is a one-time cost that we bear.  

     MR. MOORE:  I did mention earlier, but this is just a subset of all of our mains.  It is typically only the ones that are large enough that we have internal inspection tools that are commercially available to go through.  When they get smaller, the tools just aren't available. 

     And they also have to have the -- you have to have the bends removed in the lines, any of these things like -- we call it compression couplings.  Things that prohibit the passage, the easy passage through the inside of the pipe of a tool have to be removed before pigging. 

     So it is an excellent technology.  You know, it is very capital-efficient, because you can put the pigs in and you get an inside-out view right down the line.  Millimetre by millimetre, you can understand the real extent of internal corrosion or external corrosion, cracks, gouges, buckles, dents, and from that target, the repairs.  

So you are not, you know -- you are not coming – we wouldn't be coming back and saying we need to replace an entire section.  In a lot of cases, we can just replace bits of it, if I am making sense.  

So ideally, we would have that technology to be able to run through all our lines, but we don't.  It is evolving.  It is a small subset.  And -- but it is very, very good, a very good program, and something we're very proud of our -- the work we have done so far in our advancement in that area. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  But what you just described is just -- the point I was trying to make, I guess, is it is a balance between doing inline inspections and optimizing your capital expenditure, not having to do any more than you need to do and doing it at the right time. 

     MS. BROUDE:  I agree.  I agree.  And, you know, further to that, you know, we may have some pipelines that are in a lot better shape than others.  A way of optimizing might be extending the interval to a 10-year period of time. 

     We are not there yet.  That is something that really has to undergo an engineering assessment to determine what the required frequencies are. 

     On the flip side, then, you might have other pipelines that are riskier, and we might want to do them at a shorter interval than the seven-year interval that we currently do them at. 

     MR. MOORE:  And, Dr. Elsayed, the optimization comes in the analytics that Ms. Broude spoke of, where you do look at the area extent, the depth of corrosion, if it is external or internal corrosion, and where it appears the corrosion rate is low enough, you can wait to re-inspect the line. 

     If it is accelerated at such a rate that, you know, you can't -- you have to dig it up and repair it right away, so there is a lot of work that goes into it behind the scenes and a lot of standards that exist, and we've -- I think we're doing very good -- a good job that -- I am kind of the operating guy here on the panel, but it's an excellent technology and it's impressive to see in use. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Mr. O'Leary, have you got any re-examination?

     MR. O'LEARY:  No, I don't, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Well, that is everything for this panel.  You are relieved of duty with our thanks.

And we will break for three-quarters of an hour.  We will be back at 10 to with the next panel.  Thank you.  

     --- Luncheon recess at 12:05 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 12:54 p.m. 

     MS. CONBOY:   Thank you, please be seated.

Mr. O'Leary, you have your next panel ready? 

     MR. O'LEARY:  We do, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Wonderful.

     MR. O'LEARY:  I would ask that the panel be affirmed. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. - PANEL 6

Will Akkermans, Affirmed. 


Biju Misra, Affirmed.


Michael Brophy, Affirmed.


Edward Phagoo, Affirmed.
EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. O'LEARY:
     MR. O'LEARY:  Just by way of introductions, we have closest to me Mr. Brophy, to his left Mr. Akkermans, to his left Mr. Misra, and to his left Mr. Phagoo.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  May I ask, Mr. Akkermans, can you, on behalf of the panel, advise whether the prefiled evidence in respect of WAMS and IT, the technical conference responses, and the responses to the interrogatories were prepared by this panel, or under their direction and their control?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  And to the best of the knowledge of the 

panel, are the responses that have been given accurate?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, it is.

MR. O”LEARY:  And do you adopt them for the purposes of this proceeding?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, we have prepared a very, very brief evidence in-chief for this, and we indeed filed a piece last night.  

Part of it is to simply provide some explanation as to what is WAMS, and also to provide you with some recent developments that are not included in the evidence, which we believe would be of assistance to you. 

     If I could ask that we have the filed evidence in-chief marked as an exhibit?

     MS. CONBOY:  Yes. 

     MS. SEBALJ:  It is K6.2. 

EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  FILED EVIDENCE IN-CHIEF.
     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Ms. Sebalj.

We will be several minutes.  That's it. 

     Mr. Akkermans, can I ask you if you could provide us with a little context about what is WAMS, and why it is part of this proceeding?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Sure.  So the existing technology that we have today is 10 years old, and it's becoming obsolescent and really end-of-life. 

     This is one of our core systems that's fundamental to us operating on a daily basis.  The existing technology supports approximately 1 million work requests every year, and also stores our asset records associated with servicing our 2 million customers. 

     So the principal functions that our existing technology uses -- the principal functions of our existing technology is really creating work related to our primary functions, such as construction, maintenance and service.  

It is scheduling and coordinating work, which includes 

responding to customer inquiries and emergency response, updating work and asset records after the work is complete, and providing the key source of data for forecasting, work load planning and asset planning. 

     So today, Accenture provides existing EnVision services, which utilize that underlying existing technology, and the overall WAMS program is about replacing that existing service into the future.  

     So the WAMS program includes looking at the various 

alternatives, procuring the required technology, securing the system integrator, data conversion, implementation and the warranty period. 

     It also include the typical elements for this type of program, such as change management and the training associated with getting our more than 1,000 users ready for go-live. 

     So the WAMS program is essential for us to continue to 

effectively operate into the future.  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you.

And I understand that there have been several updates, in terms of the WAMS initiative, that are not referenced in the evidence to this point.  Can you assist us in this regard?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Sure.  So firstly, the current functionally has been provided to Enbridge through a 10-year services agreement with Accenture, that is due to expire at the end of March 2014. 

     We have executed an extension agreement; that's going to extend those services to the first quarter of 2016. 

     This allows the company time to select the appropriate vendors, roll up the WAMS program at the end of 2015, and 

enter into the warranty period in 2016. 

     Second, given that the existing technology being used by Accenture for the current service is 10 years old, it is becoming obsolescent and reaching end-of-life.  So we have moved forward, and one of the first steps was to select the product vendor, and we finished that and completed that step in December of 2013 through a competitive bid process. 

     And lastly, the company has started the process of choosing its system integrator vendor through another competitive request for tender process, which is currently underway today.  And we're planning that that process is completed in late spring or early summer. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Just one final question.  Can I ask you, in respect of the tender process and the selection of the software product vendor, can you tell us whether or not the amount -- and I am not suggesting you get into the details here, but can you tell us whether or not the amount of the bids received in any way is relative, or informs you in terms of the reliability of the budget that you have set for the WAMS initiative?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes.  So the estimate now, based on the product that we chose in December of last year, those budget estimates are in line with our current estimates, and therefore provides us with, first, confidence in our estimated number, 67.7 million. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  Thank you, Mr. Akkermans.

The panel is now open for cross-examination. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.

Mr. Shepherd, I believe that you are going first?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am indeed, Madam Chair. 

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses, my name is Jay Shepherd.  I think I know some of you, and others I don't. 

I want to start with -- well, let me just clear up one thing. Do you have an up-to-date budget of the WAMS program?

MR. AKKERMANS:  Our budget, based on our current estimates, is the 67.6 million which was filed. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't changed any of the components of that budget?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  No, we haven't.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your bid for the software was dead on?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  It was in line, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

This panel deals with not just the WAMS project, but all of the IT capital projects, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let me start with some general questions. 

     When you operate your IT department, you have many of the same people doing work that is charged to OM&A and work that is charged to capital, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Not necessarily.  There is an operating support organization, as there was a project organization. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And they're completely separate?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the people in the project organization, their time is all capitalized; there is no OM&A there?

     MR. MISRA:  Yes, they're all capital. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the ones on the other side, 

there's no capital there?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yeah.  They're all -- they all do the 

applications support services for all of the applications for the company, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's unusual.  Is that recent?  

     MR. PHAGOO:  Mr. Shepherd, just a quick question.  Are you asking if we have two separate groups, one that is OM&A and one that is capital?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wasn't asking that, but I think that is what I just heard. 

     MR. PHAGOO:  Just to clarify, we do operate within the OM&A and capital budget, and the resources could be shared with either group.  But it is not, if you are OM&A, you will be charging to capital at the same time.  You are charged appropriately based on the functions you are completing. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's the normal way?  You have a group of people, and one year Mr. Brophy will be in capital, and the next year he will be in operations, or the next year he will be half and half, right?  

     MR. PHAGOO:  Could be, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  And that includes the WAMS project and the CIS project?  Those big projects are -- include some people that otherwise might be charged to operations?  

     MR. MISRA:  Potentially could, if those programs are in play, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Obviously, the company has an overall capitalization policy.  We're familiar with it; I think it is in the record.

But many big companies have specific guidelines for how to allocate IT resources, particularly people, to capital and to operations, because sometimes the criteria are slightly different. 

     Do you have any guidelines for how you allocate IT resources as between capital and operations?

Most big companies have, like, a manual. 

     MR. BROPHY:  Perhaps I can help with that.  We have one policy related to capitalization and input through the regulatory and accounting group, and that is, in my understanding, the policy we use across the board on capitalization, on a separate one by department.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, no, I understand that.  The question I am asking is -- it is often common to have -- to drill down to a next level in IT, because some of the judgment calls are difficult, and so sometimes there's a set of guidelines for IT allocations that's intended to be consistent with the capitalization policies, but is more granular.

Do you have anything like that?  

     MR. MISRA:  No, there is nothing specific necessarily  for IT.  We just follow whatever the capitalization policy for the company may be. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.

The other question I want to ask about this is the interaction between your departmental budget and this accounting allocation.

Are there occasions where you sort of need to find a project for somebody or else you will lose them because you don't have enough budget?  Has that happened?  

     MR. MISRA:  No.  As a matter of fact, we have a complement of contractor and full-time resources as well, and we -- we have never -- we prioritize based on what the company priorities are, and we don't go out of our way to find work for people that's not required. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is common in the budget process, when you get down to the short strokes to say:  Well, if I'm going to lose this project, these people have to go somewhere, so what am I going to do with them?

Because we heard about the capital review, where you lost some projects, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  We prioritized within the framework of the company's priorities. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what did you do with those people?  They didn't get fired, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  No.  As a matter of fact, when the budget reviews had started, we actually had more projects for IT than we could actually do.  So as we lost projects, it was really around prioritization of what needed to be done, and I think the projects that we lost were not necessarily important in the context of the priorities of other parts of the company. 

     MR. BROPHY:  So, Mr. Shepherd, I think the exact answer to the question you asked is the benefit of the model that IT uses is the mix between full-time and contractors allows them to roll the contractors off, so you are never in a circumstance like you are suggesting.  

     So, you know, having to find work for full-time people because, you know, you have the contractors to help peak-shave that, and then you would be letting contractors go if the work is less than anticipated. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I understand.  It is a common strategy.

I am still -- I'm still trying to understand this notion that you had more projects than you could do.

     When you did your initial budget, your sort of phase 1 capital budget, you had stuff in there that you couldn't do 

because you didn't have enough resources?  You would have to acquire more resources?


MR. BROPHY:  Even the current portfolio of projects, I believe, exceeds the capabilities of the full-time IT staff available.  Therefore, there will have to be contractors used to even perform that.  So I think that is what Mr. Misra was referring to, as far as EGD full-time staff. 

     The contractors can be leveraged up or down depending on the work that comes through in any given year. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But those contracts you lost in the review process, some of them involved full-time people, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Sorry, again, as I was saying, as we go through the review process, we rationalize, you know, the number of requests that we have from across the company for IT-related projects, and we come down to what we think is the priority for the company based on a direction the company is taking.  And we tend to have --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, that is not really -- that is not really responsive to my question.  My question is about the projects you lost.  

     In the review process, you had some projects that you asked for and you didn't -- they weren't approved, and some of those projects at least had -- you were expecting to use full-time people, EGD employees, in those projects. 

     What did you do with those employees when you didn't have the projects?  

     MR. MISRA:  As we reallocate those employees to other projects, there were the priorities of the company. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Or to OM&A or whatever work had to be done, right?

     MR. MISRA:  The project people, we tend to focus more on their project resources that are required for other allocations of those capital projects. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I -- now I am confused, because I thought I heard your colleague say that people are moved back and forth between OM&A and capital.  And now you are saying again that project people only do projects and -- I just -- I don't understand.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BROPHY:  So perhaps I can help on that.  So when --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Brophy, can I get the answer from Mr. Misra first?  And then you can add something to it, if that is okay?

     MR. BROPHY:  Sure.


MR. MISRA:  Yeah, Mr. Shepherd, I think as we go through the -- well, you know, as we go through the budgeting process, it is more of our priorities of the projects in the overall context, and then we assign the people to those projects.  And we tend to -- yeah, that is how the allocations happen. 

     We don't assign people to projects we don't know about first.  We actually do it the other way around. 

     MR. BROPHY:  So that was pretty close to exactly what I was going to say, in that when we put a portfolio forward or a budget like we're talking about in this proceeding, those projects haven't all started, so the exact people haven't been allocated.

So it is a pool of people that are available between full-time and contractors, and once the projects are going to begin, then it is aligning the exact names of the people with the projects. 

     So it is not like we have, two years in advance, a list:  This person is only going to work on this project in two years.  That is not the way it is done. 

     MR. MISRA:  And it is common for us to have one person work on multiple projects.  It is not uncommon.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Your projects -- your people are not all the same, right?  They have various specialties, and you can't just say:  Okay, you know what?  You, Mr. Java programmer, we want you to go fix this PC?

That is not how it works, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Generally, Mr. Shepherd, the -- what we have are project managers, business analysts and architects, because we tend to use development resources, if required, externally as contractors.  They're generally allocated to multiple projects many times. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I will move on. 

     I want to talk a little bit generally about the WAMS project, and you talked about a $67 million budget; is that right?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and I have seen that number, and I want to turn, if we could, to SEC No. 97, which is I.B18.EGDI.SEC.97.  

      MR. BROPHY:  Yes, I have that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And appendix A says that the maximum rate base you have in that project is 61 million.

Now, do I take it that that's because it starts at 67 and you have 6 million of depreciation in the first year?  Is that right?

     MR. BROPHY:  Just give me a minute to take a look at the IR.  

     So this panel isn't experts on ratemaking or rate base itself, but there is a schedule in the evidence that lays out when the amounts are expected to be spent for the WAMS program. 

     And it also indicates that the first time that things would start to be applied to rate base would be in 2015.  So I believe this is just the calculation based on those numbers, and this was put together by the rates department.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are not familiar with the -- I can't ask you questions about the revenue requirement implications of the WAMS project, can I?

     MR. BROPHY:  Well, the budget, we can speak to.  If it gets into the mechanics of ratemaking, then this panel would not be able to answer those. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  So the --

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Maybe, Mr. Shepherd, if I can just add, so specifically in our evidence in Exhibit B, tab 8, schedule 2, page 17 at the bottom, it outlines specifically based on the forecasted activities that 59.9 million will close to rate base in 2015, and then 7.7 would close in 2016.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So these rate base numbers here in -- sorry, you said 59 million in '15?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  59.9 million will close to rate base in 2015, because we're planning to go live in December 2015, yes.

And then the remaining amount of the 7.7 million is the warranty period, which extends into 2016.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent, excellent.  Okay.  I will follow that up with the rate base panel later.


So the WAMS project is a combination of hardware, software and people resources, right?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Correct.  And on our same evidence on page 18, it actually outlines in paragraph 37 all the major components that go into that amount -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not looking to go into great detail.  This is set-up questions; that's all.  This is to get the very high-level understanding of what it is.

It is a combination of hardware, software and people resources, and it is mostly -- the capital side is mostly software, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  In a general sense those are the components.  And, you know, it is a mix of those components.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The capital component of the budget is 

primarily software, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  The entire program is one program, and it is all capital under that program.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you have no business case for this, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  There was an interrogatory response to that question that indicated we don't have a separate business case, if that is what you are looking for. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. BROPHY:  But we believe we have a very strong business case as outlined in the evidence and has been, I believe, discussed even prior to the proceeding. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not asking about business case in the layman's term.  I am asking about business case in the technical sense, where you look at the cost and you look at the benefits, and you say benefits exceed costs.

You haven't done that?

     MR. BROPHY:  If you are looking for a separate document called a business case that sits separately, we do not have that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Why not?  

     MR. BROPHY:  Because the business case, if you read the evidence, has evolved over -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I have read the evidence. 

     MR. BROPHY:  -- over the last decade, and as we're getting close to the end of the current services agreement with Accenture, and knowing that the technology is obsolete and coming to a point where the vendor would no longer support it, as well as underlying Microsoft support, there were various discussions within the company over the last few years about options, obviously with many parties, including Accenture. 

     So those discussions have occurred, but as far as 

documenting those all in, you know, a single document called a business case, that was not done. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You had to make a decision -- do you try to extend the existing technology or do you acquire new technology -- right?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the existing technology, the primary problem with it is that it's based on Windows Server 2003; correct?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes, that is one part of it, as well as the obsolescence of the product itself from the current vendor. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The product is a client server technology?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you wanted to go to what?  

     MR. PHAGOO:  It's a client server technology, but the 

underlying platform itself, it is written in very old, old 

language, if I were to use my IT hat there. 

     It is very, very dated in how it is written, and the ability to support it -- it is very expensive to try and support it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you still have people that can support it, right?  

     MR. PHAGOO:  The product is actually supported by the vendor, and the vendor, this is no longer a product that they offer as a viable -- as a market-available product. 

     They have replaced this product, which is currently used by Enbridge, with a different product. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you considered upgrading to their new product, and decided not to? 

     MR. PHAGOO:  We have considered -- the product that is 

currently available and is supported is not -- it is not a 

version upgrade to the current application that we have or use. 

     It's a replacement product, because it is a totally different product that they're offering now. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Different architecture?

     MR. PHAGOO:  Architecture, as well as underlying 

functionality and capabilities within it from what we currently have, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it wouldn't do what you need done?

     MR. PHAGOO:  It is not that it will not do what we want done.  It is the way to get to it, to upgrade it, is not a part of upgrade where you will just go in and say:  I will put in a CD or put in something, and make it a next version.

It is like a replacement of the product.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the bottom line, then, is that once you have to replace it, you might as well go out into the marketplace and look at what options are available and choose the best one. 

     MR. MISRA:  Given where we are, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you did that? 

     MR. BROPHY:  And we did include assessing the current 

vendor's new product in that assessment as well. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, the product -- the solution you have come up with is different than EnVision, right?  Functionally it is similar, although perhaps more modern, but it is different in terms of how it approaches the functions, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So the vendors -- it is a different vendor that was selected for the product through the open RFP process. 

     It provides the same type of core utility functions that we need to perform as a utility, such as designing work, assigning work, tracking assets, et cetera, if that answers your question. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it do it better?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So the product itself, we were looking at the core capabilities.  We were -- we were not looking to change from the existing service from Accenture to a new product, on the basis of trying to do things better per se. 

     The opportunity to do things better can be present, and we would leverage those based on that. 

     But it would be -- you know, to use an example, if you had a cell phone 10 years ago that was no longer supported and you had to trade it in, you couldn't get the same cell phone that you had 10 years ago today.  It's a different cell phone, and there may be some other things that come with that.

But the assessment was around the core capabilities that we need to perform as a utility. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, and I wasn't asking 

actually about your motivation, although I understand why you responded the way you did. 

     But in the same way, if you replace an old cell phone, you get a new cell phone that has a screen and colour and surfs the Internet, and all sort of things like that.  

Is that true here as well, that the WAMS product is, you know, that much better than what you were using with EnVision?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, I mean, existing technology is 10 years old and becoming obsolescent.  So I would inherently

expect that as we replace that existing technology and put new technology in, that there's going to be certain areas that will give us enhancements, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will have new functions? 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  I am not sure if I would call it functions.  Just new enhancements.

For example, the existing system that we 

have today contains an enormous amount of data, for example, and one of the questions would be –- is:  How do you access that data and have visibility into that data?

The new technology, for example, that would be an example of an enhancement where you can get better access to that data, get visibility to that data.  

So I wouldn't say it is a new function necessarily, but it will improve what we have today, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And those can be used to save you money, right?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Directionally, I would -- I would expect that in the future, when we roll it out and after we stabilize that, there should be some opportunity to improve things, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because it will be faster, better and it will do things that, otherwise, you had to have people doing at a desk or whatever, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So the product itself -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:   Sorry, can I just get an answer to that question?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes.  So it is the tool itself, but what the tool helps to perform the work, it is in the performance of the work that is really where we -- I would expect we would see some benefits, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     MR. BROPHY:  So I was just going to add that, you know, the product is a tool that allows you to complete necessary functions in the utility related to operations and construction, et cetera. 

     And so by having it -- and that enables those functions to be performed.  If there are opportunities to identify efficiencies throughout the period, the tool becomes a foundation to enable that, but the tool itself may not –- itself, it is a software tool, rather than how you use it and innovate within the business and the processes, et cetera. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not sure I understood that to be what Mr. Akkermans was saying, and maybe I could just clarify here. 

     When you have a better tool, it means that you can make less mistakes, for example.  You can have better records.  You can tell people faster -- because one of the things it does is communicate with your field crews, right? So you can tell people faster what they need to do, get 

them better access to information so they do a better job; all of that is true, right? 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  The tool can enable that, but it doesn't do it alone by itself. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but these are things you can do because of a better tool, right?

     MR. BROPHY:  It can help enable that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it's true, isn't it, that you expect that you're going to get some benefit from that, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  Not specifically from the product itself, but through using the product, we believe that the utility will be able to identify opportunities over this period for efficiencies. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do we have information in the record as to what those benefits will be, how much money are you going to save and in what, as a result of this new tool?  

     MR. BROPHY:  They wouldn't be specific to the tool.      So those benefits would have to come from the utility 

overall on efficiencies that they believe they're going to 

achieve.  It won't be specific to the tool. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I take your point and I am still asking the same question.

Do we have in the evidence the benefits that you hope to achieve as a result of having a new and better tool?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  I don't think it is articulated in the 

evidence per se, of what those future benefits would be, and I would suggest that it is partly because of where we are in the time frame of this overall program as well, too. 

     We have just selected the new product, which is as of December of last year.  We're just in the midst of a competitive bid process with our system integrator.  

So as we evolve going forward, once we select a system integrator and work with a system integrator and finalize the scope, I thought that, at that time, in the future, we would be in a better spot to say:  Okay, in this area, we look like we potentially could occur additional benefits.

But what it would also offer up is, I believe, in certain other areas there might be incremental costs, too, as a result of it. 

     So for example, in certain -- it could be a change in how certain departments use the system.  In the future, it might mean a change in job requirements of a certain individual, or that we have to add more people in this area to drive out more productivity into another area.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't understand.  If you have a better tool, it might cost you more because -- 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  In certain areas, it could cost more.  

Overall, I do believe that the tool will enable productivity for the organization, yes.  Overall. 

     But the fine nuances between -- in this specific area here versus that specific area there, I think it is still too early in the program at that point in time to clearly say this is the amount, and trying to quantify that out. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand what you're saying, Mr. Akkermans.  I guess your comment on the timing is really the reason why I am asking this, because it sounds like -- and tell me whether this is wrong -- it sounds like you're saying:  Ratepayers, we want you to pay for this investment, and we, the company, are going to reap the benefits in terms of productivity during IRM.  We haven't built any of those productivity benefits into our plan; only the cost.

Isn't that right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So it is my understanding that if we identify and are able to achieve productivity benefits over the period, that we would reap some benefit and ratepayers would also reap benefits through the mechanism proposed. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I think actually the way it works is that if you are able to achieve productivity, you get to keep it unless you over-earn, which we have heard from the capital panel can be almost impossible. 

     I am trying to understand why the ratepayers should make the investment in productivity for you to benefit.  

     MR. BROPHY:  So the WAMS program and the product that we're discussing is a core foundation to performing utility functions on a day-to-day basis.  It is required to -- as Mr. Akkermans had indicated, there is over a million work requests generated per year, including emergencies, services that get constructed for people's houses, you know, you name it.

I could go down the list of all the areas that it supports. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We understand. 

     MR. BROPHY:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, you have selected the software vendor already? 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this a secret?  Can you tell us who it is?  

     MR. MISRA:  It is IBM Maximum.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And now I want to just compare this to EnVision, and -- but before looking at WAMS relative to EnVision, let's just talk about EnVision for a second, because EnVision is still in your revenue requirement, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is still -- you are still using it? 

     MR. BROPHY:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And EnVision is not a software product per se?  It is a service package from Accenture, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You own the software?  

     MR. BROPHY:  Accenture holds licences and provides those functions through the service to us, and we pay Accenture for that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you pay them fees over the last, what, 10 years?  

     MR. BROPHY:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that was introduced in 2007, maybe?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I think it was 2004, subject to check.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  2004?  And at the time there was a controversy about that, wasn't there, that there were ratepayer groups saying:  Well, wait a second.  Where are we going to get benefit from this?  And Enbridge agreed to guarantee some benefits through its agreement with Accenture, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  That's my understanding. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And periodically you have been reporting on that, that -- the nature of the benefits that you achieved from the Accenture -- from the EnVision program?  

     MR. BROPHY:  In fact every year.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, so here's what I -- and by the way, EnVision was the final step of multiple projects, right?  There was one called WAMS, funnily enough, and then DPWAMS, or maybe it was DPWAMS and then WAMS -- I don't remember -- and then finally EnVision was the final one that you implemented, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I believe that's correct, generally speaking.  I wasn't involved 10 years ago, but I believe that that sounds right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason I am asking about EnVision is because I am looking at appendix B to SEC 97, the interrogatory I just took you to.  And appendix B is the amounts included in revenue requirement in the 2014 to 2018 period for Accenture, for the EnVision project. 

     And we see, for example -- do you have that in front of you?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  We see, for example, on line 4 you still have some O&M costs.  Those are the payments to Accenture; is that right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So you are referring to line -- line 5?  Is that what you're referring to?  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, 5, sorry, I...

     MR. BROPHY:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But the payments to Accenture are actually a lot bigger than that, right?  Because most of the payments are capitalized? 

     MR. BROPHY:  So the Board-approved treatment almost a decade ago were based on a 90 percent capital, 10 percent O&M treatment.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so the result of that -- result of that split is that we now have 100-odd million dollars in capital, and by my calculation -- will you accept this, subject to check -- that will be paid off in 2033?

     MR. BROPHY:  Subject to check, that sounds roughly correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So for 20 years we're going to be spending money on this, and it appears that we're talking about another $300 million or so?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch your extrapolation from 100 million to 300 million. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, 100 million at currently about 17 million a year for 20 years -- now, it's going to go down, obviously, but it is still going to be a big number, right?  Maybe it is only 250 million.  

     MR. BROPHY:  Well, I think it suffices to say that because the service was to enable installation of mains and services, and that was the basis for the treatment of capitalization, because it is not a IT asset, it was a service to help enable installing those mains and services, that treatment of the capital is paid over a longer period, in line with mains and services.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not saying that the Board did anything wrong in approving that.  I am just asking the question:  Is that true that we're still on the hook for hundreds of millions of dollars?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I am not sure I would agree with "on the hook," but this will be recovered through rates for the life of those mains and services as applied in the depreciation schedule, which was -- and we're not proposing to change the Board-approved depreciation.  We're, in fact, proposing to maintain it and make no change to it.  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  And so if I could just add, this would be similar treatment as other types of services we have used.  So for example, one of our contractors that we used to use that would help to put the mains and services into the ground, those costs, those associated costs with that services, with the backhoes and that labour, would have been against the mains and depreciated in the same -- similar way as this service. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and I appreciate that.  What I am trying to understand is:  Your new project, the new WAMS project, is not going to be accounted for that way, is it?

     MR. BROPHY:  It would be like comparing apples to oranges, because one was a service to enable us to put mains and services into the ground similar to a contractor, like Mr. Akkermans indicated.  WAMS will be IT capital owned by EGD and depreciated in alignment with those policies.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It will, however, still be a service that enables you to put mains in the ground; it is just a service you are providing internally, right?

     MR. BROPHY:  It's -- I wouldn't characterize --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's no different.


MR. BROPHY:  -- it as a service.  It will be an IT asset of hardware and software, as we talked about earlier, that will be leveraged in order to put those in the ground.

But it's going to be treated differently than an external service that we are contracted to enable mains and services to be put in the ground. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  It is a different accounting treatment, but the functionality is essentially the same, right?  You are still using this to put mains in the ground, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  It will assist us with putting mains in the ground. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So substance has not changed?  It is only the accounting treatment that is changing, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  And the entire premise of having hardware and software that we purchase and own versus contracting externally to a firm like Accenture to provide a service, it is a different approach, more than just accounting-wise. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I take your point.  The same ultimate function is being achieved, yes?  

     MR. BROPHY:  They're both helping to put mains and services in the ground at the end of the day. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In the last 10 years, what you have been doing is $10 million has been added to your capital budget every year or so -- I don't know what the number is, but in that range -- because of this service, right?  Some number?  

     MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  The amount to provide the service has been included in our rates. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And now that is going out of your capital budget because you are not going to have that capital cost associated with each year -- with the mains, right?  The mains are not going to have to bear that cost anymore? 

     MR. BROPHY:  Once the Accenture service ends, we will not be paying Accenture invoices and charging that to rates.  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  And WAMS is not going to be 

accounted for that way?  There's not going to be a portion of the WAMS cost that is charged to mains, right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  Not to mains. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So isn't that a $10 million a year saving in your capital budget, or whatever the number is?

I didn't see any reference to that anywhere.  I didn't see any reference to your mains costs going down because of that, and I don't understand why.  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BROPHY:  So I can confirm that current costs we're 

paying Accenture that are allocated to the mains account will no longer be applied to that account, once that service stops.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But then your mains budget didn't go down by $10 million a year, or whatever the number is, to reflect this, did it?  Actually, it's going up? 

     MR. BROPHY:  I am not familiar with the overall mains 

budget. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I have two -- three other brief questions, not on WAMS.  

     The first is with respect to EnTRAC.  And if you want to take a look at SEC Interrogatory No. 100, I.B18.EGDI.SEC.100, and TCU3.1, page 10 -– sorry, that’s wrong –- page 14.  Do you have those?  

     MR. PHAGOO:  What's the second reference, sorry?  What is the second reference? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  TCU3.1, page 14.  

     MR. PHAGOO:  We actually don't have access.  Would you be able to -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask the question and see if you can help me without it, and if not, you can take a look. 

     The project you have as is a $4 million capital project to enhance EnTRAC, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  EnTRAC is pretty old, isn't it? 

     MR. MISRA:  Yes, it is about -- probably 10 years old, nine years old. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not replacing that; that one is easier to fix?  

     MR. MISRA:  No.  It's -- EnTRAC was fully custom-built from the ground up, and it is a customized solution.  There was no off-the-shelf solution for what EnTRAC does 10 years ago.  And subsequent to all of the GDAR rulings and MDB re-establishment and the changes that have come, we have done all that to EnTRAC over the last 10 years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And now you are enhancing it further rather than replacing it, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  It is more of sustainment of EnTRAC than 

replacing it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have described -- in SEC 100, you've described a whole lot of problems associated with it; I mean, page after page after page of problems. 


But we asked you to look at those problems and tell us -- give us the information on those problems at a higher level, and you did in TCU3.1, in your response to SEC technical conference Question No. 52.  

     Basically what you did is -- what you said is that most of these problems with EnTRAC are associated with bad data, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The system simply isn't designed to handle the garbage that comes in from various users?  

     MR. MISRA:  That's one aspect of EnTRAC, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I went down the list of the problems that you're trying to address, and they're virtually all bad data.  And you say, in fact, it is common to have problems or issues with incoming data.  

     It is the biggest problem you have, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  Well, yes.  So the listing of all of the issues that you have -- because we gave you a list of all of the incidents we have had with EnTRAC over the last two years or three years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MR. MISRA:  But there is a -- similar to perhaps EnVision, there is a technology obsolescence issue with EnTRAC because of the fact it's been custom-built over the last 10 years. 

     So to give you a sense of what that means, for example, our infrastructure is ready to be replaced.  There is about 14 or 15 servers that need to be replaced.  The programming language in which EnTRAC has been written, we're at least three or four versions away from what the current version is. 

     And of course the underlying databases are also -- there's a support issue that's emerging, and overall, if you look at all of the changes that have happened to EnTRAC over the last 10 years -- and some very significant -- that is where the challenge with EnTRAC is, to sustain that application over the next four years. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I appreciate that, and what I am really 

asking about here is -- this is a $4 million project to keep it going, on which you provided us with lots of information.  

And it sort of stands out in contrast to WAMS, where you haven't had a whole lot of problems.  You have the same obsolescence problem with a system that has a similar age. 

     But WAMS you need to replace, and EnTRAC you're saying:  Well, we get along? 

     MR. MISRA:  Mr. Shepherd, I think there is a fundamental difference between EnTRAC and WAMS.  One, because compared to 10 years ago when you look at the marketplace that has evolved for where we are with WAMS compared to EnTRAC, they're two different stories. 

     EnTRAC is the solution that Enbridge has, and is the 

only solution that Enbridge has custom-built over the years for a specific purpose. 

     There is really nothing in the marketplace that does 

something like what EnTRAC does.  There might be parts and bits of it that we may find today, but, you know, I couldn't tell you something today in the marketplace that I would say would be an exact fit for EnTRAC.

And that is the difference between EnTRAC and WAMS. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And every gas distributor has the functions that EnTRAC serves, right?  And most of them have them automated, yes?  

     MR. MISRA:  And some, I think, also have these custom solutions, and I can't speak to all of the others that have something.

But I can tell you that EnTRAC was built for a specific purpose and some of the things that we do.  And we have looked at the alternatives around, you know; do 

we do a replacement for EnTRAC, or do we extend the life?

And extending the life in the current state as it is, just to sustain it -- because there is no real alternative that we have -- is what we have chosen to do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So at some point in the relatively near term, you're going to be coming back to this Board, maybe at the next rebasing, and saying:  Okay, we extended it a little bit; now we have to replace it?  Right?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. MISRA:  Unless there is something that completely 

emerges in the marketplace that is exactly like EnTRAC, I don't believe that will be the case.  I think we will sustain EnTRAC for a long time.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will just keep spending more money on it to keep it up to date as a custom solution?  

     MR. MISRA:  Also I think the spend that we talked about for EnTRAC is just to upgrade the infrastructure that we have, and upgrade the technology that we have so we can sustain it. 

     I don't anticipates an ongoing $2 million spend around it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're going to have to rewrite it in a more up-to-date programming language, right? 

     MR. MISRA:  If there was a significant change that were to come, perhaps something like a GDAR, then I think we would have to look at exactly what to do. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This is like the old COBOL programs. You could keep them for a while, but eventually you had to replace them.

What is this written in? 

     MR. MISRA:  This is written in Java 1.4, actually. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Then it's not out of date.  You said earlier it is obsolete -- 

     MR. MISRA:  Today, like, if you look at Java, I think we're at version 10 or 9, so we are quite far away. 

     Then there is also -- if you look at our infrastructure itself and all of the hardware, that's up for replacement as well.  So we would continue maintaining it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The hardware that runs EnTRAC?  

     MR. MISRA:  Absolutely. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The servers and -- 

     MR. MISRA:  Yes.  They need replacement on an ongoing basis. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But that would be true no matter what software you were using? 

     MR. MISRA:  Agreed.  The language it is written in and overall changes that we have for EnTRAC, if there was massive change -- as I mentioned, something like GDAR where we changed about 75 percent of EnTRAC -- then I think we would have to think about what that means. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My last area of questions is probably brief, and that relates to CIS. 

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are going to replace your CIS, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  No, sorry.  I wasn't planning on 

replacing CIS any time soon.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Yet you have a project, over the next period, to review your existing CIS technology with a review to the next -- next type that you have, right?  

     MR. MISRA:  No.  We continue to upgrade CIS through major and minor releases and enhancements and upgrades that come through SAP, to keep it current. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you are not planning to replace it? 

     MR. MISRA:  I don't anticipate replacing it. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there costs associated with the CIS in your budget?

     MR. MISRA:  Yes, there are. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are those costs separate from the CIS -- the customer care Y factor that --


MR. MISRA:  They're not.  Actually, these upgrades for CIS were as part of that settlement. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there's nothing separate in your IT budget? 

     MR. MISRA:  There is nothing separate for CIS in the IT budget, including CIS --

     MR. BROPHY:  Mr. Shepherd, I did mean to add a point that I think is important when you were talking about WAMS versus EnTRAC, because it seemed to me that you thought they were somewhat similar, and if the point has been made how different and discrete they are, I just want to make sure it is clear they are, again, kind of an apples-and-oranges kind of comparison. 

     So given that WAMS is being brought in because the old EnVision -- the actual vendor, which -- EnTRAC, you know, isn't a vendor-provided technology -- is moved away from that, doesn't provide support, the underlying Microsoft support even and the hardware that supports it is not there.

So they are very different types of software products. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  One other question, then.  In your IT budget, it is correct, isn't it, that there are no discretionary projects in your IT budget?  Everything in your IT budget is something you have to do? 

     MR. MISRA:  Everything in the IT budget is what we prioritized as a company, in line with everything else that is required, yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you are not in a position to lose more of them, because you have to do all of them; is that true?  

     MR. MISRA:  As I think -- at the current –- yes, that is where we are.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Those are all our questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.


Who is up next?  Mr. Wolnik. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Yes, happy to go next. 


MS. CONBOY:  Great.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WOLNIK:
     MR. WOLNIK:  Panel, John Wolnik.  I am with APPrO.  I just have a few follow-up questions.  Mr. Shepherd covered most of the areas that I was going to cover, but there were just three follow-up questions. 

     Number one, just in terms of your budget of the $67.6 million, I think in your new evidence you had indicated that is -- you are confident with that estimate. 

     But you also had provided some information from Sync Energy to verify, I think, that cost estimate, and it was within the range of 50 to $75 million.

     So I wasn't clear, in terms of your updated evidence, whether you were saying that your estimate now that you've got based on the vendor quotes is consistent with the Sync Energy range of 50 to $75 million, or you think the $67 million is accurate.

Can you just clarify that a bit?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Sure.  So maybe I can help just a bit about how we developed the $67.6 million estimate. 

     So what I can say is we have an internal team that's involved with the project and spent hundreds of hours looking into this, talking to -- talking to a lot of people as input to validate the 67.6 million. 

     So for example, our team has talked to more than 20 utilities that have implemented WAMS-related projects or in the midst of implementing those WAMS-related projects, and have talked to them and have been having ongoing conversations.  Even up to this week we're still having ongoing conversations to lessons learned and how things are progressing with them, as input to our number. 

     In addition to the utilities, we've talked to more than 12 system integrators.  So these are system integrators that actually go out and implement these types of programs with utilities.  And so that was another input that has gone into that amount. 

     We've also talked to the various product vendors as well, too, to get a sense from them of what licencing costs were, what typical implementation time lines are, relative costs.

We've also had various industry research firms, including Gartner, for example, which is an industry research firm that I know has over 900 analysts, and that was another firm that was an input to the overall amount. 

     In addition to that, we also have our own internal experience with our own team that have gained experience over the years with both small and large projects, and I would probably say we have over 100 years of experience of people that have input just even internally into that. 

     So with all of that, I would say that really went into our grassroots budget that came up with the 67.6 million.

Subsequent to that, we used Sync Energy, which we engaged to do an independent assessment based on what they see out in the marketplace, based on the work that they have done with other utilities, on trying to validate, and whether or not 67.6 million is accurate.  And I believe in the Sync Energy report that we have filed as tab 8, schedule 1, attachment 1, that he does indicate that he believes that our estimate is in line overall with other estimates. 

     And what I can also say is that, as I mentioned at the beginning, most recently, as we've concluded on our product choice in December of 2013, that was one of the components that goes into the overall amount, and that amount was in line with that original budget.

So it even gives us further confidence that that is the correct number. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  My discomfort was probably from Sync Energy.  I mean, they gave you a fairly wide range.  I mean, the upper end of the limit of their range was 50 percent more than the lower rate, so a very wide range.  And I guess I am still not very clear whether you're saying that the $67 million, you're confident now that you have selected the vendor within a very narrow limit. 

     And I appreciate that, you know, this is a four-year project, so costs are going to be different than what you have estimated, but are they going to be different -- is the Sync Energy range of 50 to $75 million, is that what we should expect at the end of this project, that it still could fall within that range?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  No, I would say when Mr. Heineman from Sync Energy put that range together, he was trying to take into account many of the factors that go into this, as he outlined in his report to us.

There's many different factors that come into it; for example, the number of interfaces, the number of business processes that are impacted, your size of service territory, and things like that. 

     And so really what comes into that is that that is why I think there is a bit of a range there, what he would say of what's reasonable when you look at other utilities. 

     I can say when our team has gone out and talked with other utilities, there is no apples to apples, directly.  You really have to get into the details and understand what's the difference between different utilities, what's the number of processes, what's the number of users, what's the scope.  You really have to get into that level of detail to truly understand it. 

     So I think for Sync Energy, what we asked him is that that was just a range based on what he has seen in the marketplace. 

     MR. BROPHY:  And even though the range identified in the Sync Energy report gives us comfort based on an expert third-party review, it wasn't the range specifically that gave us extra comfort.  It is that when Sync came in, they looked at our specific situation, our detailed budgets, they reviewed all that material, and at the end of the day the conclusions were that that was appropriate. 

     So it gives you a range, but then even above and beyond the range they actually came in, interviewed program staff, took a look at those detailed budgets, and confirmed that that's an appropriate budget that we're filing. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  And if I could just add to that as well, it wasn't just the budget that we had asked for validation on to understand whether or not it was in a reasonable range.

We asked them some other items as well with the overall program, and one of the things we asked them were the four options that we really had before us.  And what he concluded was based on the options that were before us, that replacement in a situation that we are doing a replacement project that we're undertaking, which is the WAMS program, was the prudent option for us to take. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So given where you are in the process, I appreciate your budget is $67.6 million, but do you have a range that you feel confident in providing the Board here as to what -- where it could land within, at the end of four years here?  Or do you expect them to pinpoint $67 million?

     MR. BROPHY:  We have a budget built from grassroots.  It is 67.6 million.  It could be slightly above or below that, but in every -- every step that we have undertaken, including the major step of selecting the product now, has confirmed that that is still the right number. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So you're saying there would be no surprises in rebasing in 2019? 

     MR. BROPHY:  We don't believe so. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Okay.  Thank you. 

     If I understood you correctly, you have selected the contractor -- or the vendor, or awarded the contract to the vendor?

     MR. MISRA:  We have selected the software. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Selected the software? 

     MR. MISRA:  We are in the competitive bid process for the system integrator.

     MR. WOLNIK:  And that's probably a lot of money.  That is probably a good portion of the $67 million?

     MR. MISRA:  For the system integrator, yes. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  And will that require board of director approval?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  So what we're doing with this project, as with many other projects, we're just following our internal process for approvals.


MR. WOLNIK:  So will that require a board of director approval?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So we have approval right now on the WAMS program to take the steps that we're doing.  We're live, as you know, right now in the market with an RFP.  Those will come back.  A committee has been set to do the review of those. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  So the board has approved it, then?  The board --

     MR. BROPHY:  Pardon me?

     MR. WOLNIK:  The board of directors has approved you proceeding?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I would need to check whether that was the case or not. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes.  So if I could add, so we have full support from our executive management team.  With our -- consistent with our internal approach, we would end up going to the board of directors for final approval at that point in time when we finalize, but that would be consistent with that approach --

     MR. WOLNIK:  I guess where I was going, I was trying to follow up from what Mr. Shepherd was trying to get from you in terms of business case, to be able to demonstrate that there may be some benefits here. 

     I think you indicated that there is no business case.  

However, I think you also said you've gone to visit some 20 utilities, and a lot of other people that do similar things. 

     I would have expected that you might, during those 

conversations with those other utilities that have already 

implemented it, you know, sought out some of their advice in terms of the benefits and productivity improvements that you might expect.  And if so, they may be some of the benefits that you have gone to share with your board of directors, to help get approval for $67 million.

Did you do any of that?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  So during our discussions, absolutely.  I mean, we have talked to various utilities, and like I said, various system integrators to understand the costs, typical implementation timelines.  

But we also asked about, from their side, what have they seen from benefits as well, too, or increased costs in other areas as well, too. 

     What I can say, though, is that the primary driver    of this program is the technology obsolescence; our technology is more than 10 years old.  That is the primary driver. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  I understand that, but I'll go back to Mr. Shepherd's point.  What are ratepayers getting for the $67 million, other than replacing obsolete software?

Hopefully, if you are spending $67 million, you would build in some productivity improvements.  I mean, you're further down the process; you've got at least 10 years of history with the existing system.  There may be an opportunity to design in these enhancements to your processes.


I appreciate this is a tool, but it is a fundamental tool that allows you to do that, so I guess I am a little bit perplexed as to why that wasn't done. 

     And if you did -– well, maybe you could answer that first. 

     MR. BROPHY:  So I believe the evidence -- and I won't take you through it again, but it outlines the drivers of why we have to make this change from the existing technology to the new maximal software. 

     And I think that there's an understanding of how core it is to delivering utility services such as construction, responding to emergencies, you know, the million-odd work requests that we talked about. 

     That's fundamental to providing utility services, and so there is an understanding within the utility that having a functioning work and asset management system is critical.  That's at the core of what we need to provide those utility services. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  If I can just add, in our response to SEC Interrogatory No. 104, we do talk about technology risk, and Mr. Misra could add to that.  

But I would also highlight that in there, we talk about the business risks associated with it. 

     As I mentioned earlier, this is an absolutely core system we use.  Over one million -- on average, one million work requests we perform on an annual basis, with both our contractors and company crews for our fundamental construction, maintenance, service, emergency response. 

     This is a fundamental tool that is used for that.  So as we highlight in that response, it talks about the importance of that underlying tool and how we use -– over a thousand use it on a daily basis, and it talks about the negative impact that would happen in various levels of service to our customers --

     MR. WOLNIK:  If I can interrupt here, I am not disputing any of that.  I agree with you.  There is no dispute on that.

What I am trying to do is try to understand:  Are you 

improving your work processes as a result of this?  I appreciate it is fundamental, it is core.  But what else are we getting for $67 million?  

You have talked to 20 utilities.  What did they tell you in terms of their improvements after implementing this type of software?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  When we've talked to them -- I mean, we had some conversations with them, but as I mentioned earlier, there is no exact apples-to-apples comparison.  That's the challenge. 

     Then I would also say, depending at the end of the day when we choose a system integrator and sit down with a system integrator and go through detailed design, at that point in time we would have a much better handle in saying:  Okay, now we understand.  Here is the box that we have, and then based on this, here's the potential productivity or improvements that we think that this will enable within the organization. 

     I would come back and say that it's too early at this point of time.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  So you have ignored productivity 

improvements, then?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  No, absolutely not.  No, I definitely 

disagree with that. 

     The fundamental driver of the program is the technology obsolescence, that we have to replace that technology.

And I think from a productivity perspective, that would be our intent as we go forward.  Looking for an opportunity of driving out where there is opportunity to enable productivity benefits in the business, we 

will look to that. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  In '16, '17 and '18, what productivity would you expect?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  As I mentioned before, it would be too early at this point in time.  But from a timing perspective, I can offer at that point in time, with going live at the end in December of 2015 as we plan, we would have a stabilization period, a warranty period which would take us roughly six months into 2016. 

     So by the time we would see any productivity benefits that would be enabled within the organization, we're talking into late 2017 before we realistically even see those. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  In the vendor software, in the attributes and the -- I guess the bids you got from the software vendors, did they talk about any potential benefits that could be achieved in implementing their software?  

     MR. MISRA:  I think through the competitive bid process, at a high level, I think I alluded to what the -- what they observed, but nothing specific that would be related to ourselves; more because of the fact that it is really dependent on scope and size and complexity of what you want to implement. 

     MR. BROPHY:  Again, the function of that software is to provide those services.  So when those product vendors did respond, they responded to the requirements of providing those services that the product enables. 

     And for them to then extrapolate that onto how the utility uses it, how it fits into our -- you know, any process changes we may do or other efficiencies overall, the product vendors wouldn't really be able to do that. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  But they have highlighted some of the benefits that you could then implement? 

     MR. BROPHY:  They have outlined what their product does, and then how we leverage it over the period is going to determine what benefits you actually -- 

     MR. MISRA:  I think these implementations are different.  Different companies and different organizations implement and scope differently, so --

     MR. WOLNIK:  All right.  We will move on, then. 

     In terms of IT costs, it sounds like you do interface with a lot of other utilities? 

     MR. MISRA:  Yes, we try to keep in touch and interact on similar platforms, yes. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Have you benchmarked your IT with other utilities in Canada and/or the US?  

     MR. MISRA:  We have not.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  You don't know whether your IT costs per 

customer are high, low, about average?  

     MR. MISRA:  I think at this point, no, we haven't done a study that benchmarks us against them. 

     MR. WOLNIK:  Has anybody else done it?  Have you ever 

contributed to one where you've got the results?  

     MR. MISRA:  Not that I am aware of, at least since I have been in the company.  We may have.  

     MR. WOLNIK:  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much, Mr. Wolnik.

Who have we got up next?  Mr. Thompson?  Sorry, Mr. Brett?  

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  

     MS. CONBOY:  I have you -– sorry, I have been remiss at telling people what times I at least have down for you.  Mr. Wolnik, I had you down for 15 minutes and you were right on the button, as was Schools with 45 minutes. 

     Mr. Brett, I have you down for 20 minutes. 

     MR. BRETT:  I think 20 minutes, right?  

     MS. CONBOY:  20, yes.  

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BRETT:

     MR. BRETT:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Tom 

Brett.  I work for the Building Owners and Managers Association.  

     In your evidence, you speak of the EnVision contract, the existing EnVision contract that you have with Accenture. 

     And you have $8 million in forecast capital costs for each of 2014 and 2015.  Do you recall that?  

     MR. BROPHY:  Those are capital amounts in the evidence. 

     MR. BRETT:  They're capital amounts. 

     MR. BROPHY:  In the evidence. 

     MR. BRETT:  But you recall the numbers?

     MR. BROPHY:  I do. 

     MR. BRETT:  I think you said in the evidence that you're in the process of firming up a contract with envision to take you to the end of 2015, or the end of the first quarter, I guess, of 2016. 

     You may have already said this at the beginning of your evidence, but have you concluded that contract yet with EnVision?

     MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  The extension, yes, we have. 

     MR. BRETT:  You have?  

     MR. BROPHY:  It is extended to the beginning -- to Q1 2016 now. 

     MR. BRETT:  You were able to get that done within the 

envelope of the $8 million per year?  

     MR. BROPHY:  We believe it will fit into there.  There is some possibility it could exceed, but at this point in time I believe it won't.  

     MR. BRETT:  And if it exceeded it, would it exceed it by a modest amount like 1 million, 2 million, or could it be double?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I wouldn't expect it to exceed by a large 

amount, if it were to exceed.  

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, in April 2003, I think your evidence is that you signed an agreement, what is called a capital project service agreement.  I would have loved to have seen that one in detail, but I'm not sure that I had. And that was the long-term contract with Accenture; correct?

     MR. BROPHY:  I'm sorry, can you point me to where you're referring?

MR. BRETT:  Well, the statement in your evidence is that you -- we're on a kind of limited time budget here, so it's -- well, let me ask you.  Did you -- here we go.  It is page 1 of 19, paragraph 3.

April 2003, Enbridge entered into a multi-year capital project service agreement with Accenture.  Have you got that?

     MR. BROPHY:  I'm sorry, which exhibit in --

     MR. BRETT:  Look, have you --


MR. BROPHY:  Oh, in the core WAMS evidence?  Is that what you're referring to?

     MR. BRETT:  Yeah, yeah.

     MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  Okay.  I --


MR. BRETT:  I'm sorry.  All right.  Okay. 


MR. BROPHY:  -- have that, sorry.

     MR. BRETT:  I thought that's what we were talking about, but I may have not prefaced that appropriately.

     Anyway, I -- am I right?  I recall being involved in some proceedings in 2002, 2001, where the Accenture -- I think it was the Accenture project was being considered, and originally it was going to be -- there was some thought of having that work put into rate base, was there not?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I wasn't involved at that time. 

     MR. BRETT:  Were any of you involved in that arrangement?  

     MR. BROPHY:  No, we weren't. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  No. 

     MR. MISRA:  No. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Well, I'll have to go back and check.  But in any event, as I recall -- well, my recollection was that the Board declined to put the project in rate base, but I will check that out.  

     And now, you have mentioned that -- you mentioned that you've had an RFP process for the software, and you have selected a software contract, and you have given us the name of the contractor, and you say you have an ongoing RFP process for the system integrator. 

     Now, in just rough terms, sort of big picture, what percentage of the total dollars that you show in your -- that you require for the WAMS project over '14, '15 and '16, what percentage of that is encompassed in those two contracts?  Is it 80 percent, 90 percent, or what is it?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, I just want to again extend a note of caution in respect of a matter that is going to be the subject of an RFP process.

And by process of elimination if there is a response to your question, Mr. Brett, it might give possible vendors an indication of the amounts that they should be indicating. 

     So I have no problem with the area.  It is just in terms of going to the math, I have some concerns. 

     MR. BRETT:  With the greatest of respect, I mean, we've got -- this is public information, this document here.  What's in your budget is public information.  You have put a number of 67 million, I believe, that you talked to John about. 

     All I am asking at the moment is:  Is most of that 67 million effectively paid to a third party, or does that represent -- or how much of that represent capitalization of your own effort, if you follow my -- the logic?

     MS. CONBOY:  I hear what you're saying, Mr. O'Leary, and I think Mr. Brett will take note of that in terms of whether he wants to drill down any further, but I think it is a fair question for him to ask, the -- you know, the budgeted proportion.

     MR. BROPHY:  So, you know, I can, without disclosing confidential details, and it is my understanding that the people that are active in the SI RFP right now do this for a living, and it is my understanding they are likely listening to this proceeding as well. 

     MR. BRETT:  Of course. 

     MR. BROPHY:  I have reasons to believe that they are.  So it will be a mix between external and internal.  I would expect external costs through -- whether it is SI product or other types of services needed to complete the program, will be a large portion of that budget. 

     MR. BRETT:  So more than half.  And as I understand it, you have two contracts.  What you have described in your evidence are two major contracts, one with the software provider and one with the system integrator; correct?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Now, let's take them separately.  The one with the software provider is the smaller of the two.  You say you have signed that contract.  Is that a fixed-price contract that you have signed?  

     MR. MISRA:  It's a standard software licencing agreement that we do with many other vendors. 

     MR. BRETT:  Which means, what, you pay an annual licencing fee?

     MR. MISRA:  We do pay a maintenance fee, but we buy the product on whatever the negotiated price --

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So it's a straight purchase order kind of operation? 

     MR. MISRA:  Absolutely.  You buy a number of licences, and you pay maintenance on it. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  Now, then, with -- the reason I am asking a little bit around the contracts is because my recollection -- and my recollection is usually pretty good -- is that we had an enormous dispute around the contract with Accenture, the initial, at least, attempts to contract the project with them. 

     And part of the problem was it was an open-ended contract.  It was on a fixed-price contract.  So the costs went like that. 

     Do you recall that at all?  I guess you don't, because none of you were there? 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  We weren't involved. 

     MR. BRETT:  Let me ask you this.  With respect to your RFP, the major contract -- so I am getting -- I am right in assuming now that the bigger -- the major contract is with the system integrator; correct?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  And so effectively, if I -- I mean, this -- I am a very simple guy in this area, and -- in most areas, actually, my wife would say.  But if what you had before was a service agreement with Accenture, Accenture then in turn had a number of contracts with third parties, they bundled it up, provide you a service, you paid them a fee, right?  

     Under this arrangement, as I understand it, you disaggregated that.  You now are sort of in the role of Accenture.  You are your own service provider, but you have a number of outside contracts.  And the two most important ones you've talked about are the software contract and the system integrator; correct?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So the major -- 

     MR. BRETT:  Simple question. 

     MR. BROPHY:  The major difference is that we will purchase the product and deal directly with that product vendor, rather than going through -- 

     MR. BRETT:  What is the role of the system integrator?

     MR. BROPHY:  They will be assisting -- they will be driving the implementation configuration, change management training, you know, all the activities Mr. Akkermans mentioned earlier related to implementing that product. 

     MR. BRETT:  And will the contract with the system integrator be a fixed-price contract?  I assume you put some kind of a model contract -- I don't know what your practice is, but often procurement efforts have an RFP, and then they have a contract attached, sort of your version of what you would like to sign, with the reason being that, you know, the guy that bids wants to be aware of what he is going to sign if he gets the project.

Do you have that kind of a contract?  

     MR. BROPHY:  I don't believe that I would be able to tell you the exact terms of the contract -- 

     MR. BRETT:  No one is asking you the exact terms.  I am just asking you, in broad strokes:  Is it a fixed-price contract?  

     MR. BROPHY:  The current RFP that is in the market has the ability for those firms to respond in that manner if they choose.  They could choose to respond in a different manner if they choose. 

     MR. BRETT:  They have some flexibility as to how they 

structure the contract?  

     MR. BROPHY:  On how they propose to structure it.  That's correct. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And you haven't selected -- you're not -- you haven't selected a party yet in that RFP?  That is still open? 

     MR. BROPHY:  We're in an active RFP process right now. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  How long have I got, Madam Chair?  Another --

     MS. CONBOY:  Five minutes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Five minutes?  

     Okay.  You say in your evidence that sort of the key --- this is at tab 8, schedule 2, page 2 of 19.  It is sort of the introductory paragraphs for your evidence. 

     You note that this agreement -- referring to the Accenture agreement -- expires April 1st, 2014.  Enbridge has made the decision for the longer term to provide similar services internally. 

     Well, we talked about that, and you have talked about it with Mr. Fischer.  My notes say that you gave three reasons for that, for shifting from an external to an internal approach.  One was lower costs, the second was increased flexibility, and the third was more, say, effectively, in the direction of the evolution of the software product; is that fair?  Those are the three advantages you see?  

     MR. MISRA:  Yes.  At a minimum, yes. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay.  And I guess the question is:  Where do the lower costs come in?  

     MR. MISRA:  We have had some more recent experience with doing some of these things internally. 

     MR. BRETT:  Sorry, could you just -- 

     MR. MISRA:  We have had some experience doing some of these sort of services internally, and we found that we can do it at a lower cost. 

     MR. BRETT:  Because effectively, under the service model, you've got an extra party in the middle?

     MR. MISRA:  You have an extra party in the middle, and in addition, I think you have more flexibility when it comes to the types of resources you use and where you use them.  

     MR. BRETT:  Right. 

     MR. MISRA:  And that's -- that's inherently what you get as a result. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes.  Okay.

     MR. BROPHY:  And I believe on that review in the Sync Energy report. they did confirm that that appears to be the trend in the industry. 

     MR. BRETT:  Yes, I think that is where I initially read it. 

     And the -- now, one of the points you made in your -- stating the advantage of this arrangement is it would allow you to effectively graft on, as I read it, other systems at a later date, and you mention asset management.

Is this a work product system?  Or is this both a work product and an asset management?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  It is both.  It is a work and asset 

management solution, so it does both.  

For example, our existing solution -- existing technology, used with the EnVision services, stores our asset records, which is roughly about three and a half 

million asset records in the existing technology today. 

     MR. BRETT:  So that records management program that is noted in another part of your evidence, that is going to be done via this piece of IT technology; is that the -- enabled by it in some fashion?

     MR. BROPHY:  So the existing work and asset management 

system provides the ability to hold information on our assets, and design and distribute and track work. 

     I believe that the records management evidence, that is in another section.  There is a linkage that they might use some information, but there are other records that that relates to, such as -- you know, I am not on that panel, but an example would be when we do pressure tests on extra high-pressure pipeline, there is a test chart that comes. 

     We would not store that test chart in the WAMS system.  That would sit in a separate record system.  It is not a transactional work and asset piece of data. 

     MR. BRETT:  So really your system, the WAMS will cover a certain defined set of transactions. 

     And the asset management system, if everyone is developed -- I mean, a totally digitized one, that is a separate matter, and that will deal with another set of transactions, including records? 

     MR. BROPHY:  They are coordinated. 

     MR. BRETT:  But you don't have one now, do you?  Do you have an asset management technology solution system now equivalent to your work management system, equivalent to what we're talking about now?  

     MR. BROPHY:  We have an existing service that provides 

work in asset management today. 

     For the elements that were in the evidence for the records program that they're proposing, that was about some elements that they're proposing to do that the company is not currently doing. 

     MR. BRETT:  All right.  But the last question is -- as I read your evidence and you list the functionality of your system, you don't get into any detail on all of those eight or nine items that have to do, for the most part, with work planning, workforce planning, work transactions. 

     I don't see much in there about asset management. 

     MR. BROPHY:  Which items are you referring to?  

     MR. BRETT:  Well, it is at page 6 of 19, paragraph 14.  

     MR. BROPHY:  So there is an absolute link between work and asset management.  So when you -- I will use an example of a service or main.  When you design a service or main, you need to use the materials and the work and asset management system. 

     It is scheduled.  It is constructed.  The assets actually -- all of that data has to come back and sit in that system, so they are interwoven.  This is why today the technology, as opposed to 10 years ago, are integrated work and asset management systems, like the one we selected. 

     MR. BRETT:  Okay. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Maybe if I could just offer a bit extra to this, so on page 6 of our evidence, under number 15, it talks about the main primary components of the existing technology. 

     As you can see, under the storms component of it, it is really our existing work management piece, whereas PMTS is really our asset management piece.  That is where our predominant asset records are stored today. 

These are two separate systems that are integrated in with each other. 

     MR. BRETT:  Thank you.  Those are my questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  We will break now until 2:35, and pick up with Mr. Thompson.  Thank you.  

     --- Recess taken at 2:18 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:38 p.m.

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  

     Before we get started with Mr. Thompson, I understand, Ms. Sebalj, that you took a canvass of the room and nobody had cross-examination for panel number 7.  Am I correct in that?  

     MS. SEBALJ:  I think that's correct, unless I hear anyone saying anything in the room, which I don't.  I understand that they are here, though, and available for the next panel, but I don't -- unless the hearing Panel has any questions for them, I am not sure that they need to stay -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  Yeah, the hearing Panel has no questions for panel number 7.  And we talked about whether we needed to swear them in and have them adopt their evidence, and we don't think that that is necessary to do either.

     So if they want to sit through this cross-examination, they're more than welcome to, but if they would like to go home, they're more than welcome to do that as well.  

     MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  We may well take our leave. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.


Mr. Thompson, with the diminishing audience, off you go.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  And diminishing staying power as well. 


Panel, I just have a couple of questions about WAMS.

Exhibit B2, tab 8, schedule 2, paragraph 4, you say there you are going to enter into an extension agreement with Accenture; is that correct?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  That's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so I take it that has not yet been done?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, it actually has been done.  So in my opening that was one of my updates, that we have successfully --


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry.


MR. AKKERMANS:  -- contracted with Accenture for the extension agreement 'til the first quarter of 2016. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So it goes to April 2016?

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  2016?

     MR. BROPHY:  End of March. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  End of March. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks. 

     Now, the reason I ask is because you have done a deal with, I think it is, Accenture, on EnVision, that takes you all the way out to the end of 2018; is that right?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  No, that is not correct.  The existing service that we received from Accenture to date for the EnVision services, that existing agreement was a 10-year agreement, and it was due to expire March of 2014 of this year.  That is the agreement that we have successfully negotiated to extend to April -- or to the end of March 2016.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So does that cover WAMS and something else, or is --

     MR. AKKERMANS:  No.  So what that does is that continues the existing service from EnVision while we undertake our WAMS program to get our new technology up, and then we are planning to go live with the new technology December 2015.

And the reason for the one quarter overlap is just really from a warranty period, to make sure we have some continuity from an overlap before we decommission. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I guess what I am missing is existing WAMS is within EnVision; is that right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So I heard Mr. Brett mention some terms from, I think it was, 10 years ago, and there was some terms of WAMS and that type of thing.  So the existing service we receive from Accenture today to provide those utility services, we're calling EnVision. 

     WAMS program is meant to be the new product that Enbridge will own and operate for service -- to provide those utility functions going forward.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I think the answer to my question is yes, the WAMS type service that you are getting today is within the ambit of EnVision?

     MR. BROPHY:  We're receiving that service.  It is enabling us to perform those utility functions, yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so just following up on this question of benefits, there is something now embedded in O&M expenses for this agreement that you have executed with Accenture; correct?  

     MR. BROPHY:  The EnVision costs are on a 90/10 treatment, so 10 per cent is O&M.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Okay.  So that is showing up in Mr. Shepherd's 97 as appendix B.  You discussed this with him?

     MR. BROPHY:  I believe so, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so those -- and so on the business of no benefits being shown, whatever is embedded in the O&M budgets for this work, and as well as in the existing capital budgets, when you bring your new system online, the rate base implications of that are as shown in Mr. Shepherd's appendix A, and the revenue requirement implications, right?

     MR. BROPHY:  The allowed revenue and those calculations related to WAMS is in Exhibit A, yes. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And I took it from the discussion that you had with others that there is no, in effect, reductions in O&M expenses or anything else that is showing up because of this new system that you are going to bring in-house?  There is nothing been calculated of that nature?  

     [Witness panel confers] 

     MR. BROPHY:  So we were just referring to the appendix A, and starting in 2016, you will notice on line 5 of the WAMS table there is an amount of 4.1 million on line 5, "Operation and maintenance."

So once the system is in and turned on, then it has to be operated annually, and those costs are included in this schedule. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yeah, I appreciate there is incremental add-ons, but because Accenture is out, there doesn't seem to be any deductions.  At least you haven't calculated those.  

     MR. BROPHY:  We haven't provided a difference in the rates between Accenture and WAMS, but they're easy to calculate, in that you know what the current Accenture costs are -- they were included in evidence -- and you know what the WAMS costs are.  So the math would be easy to do.  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Sorry, if maybe I can -- if I could just jump in, in that same response, appendix B, if I am following, in 2014 and '15 the O&M portion of the existing Accenture fees is 888,000, but you will notice in 2016 that does go to zero.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So 888 declines and 4.1 million gets added on?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Exactly. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Plus another $60 million of rate 

Base?  Or for WAMS?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Right.  So whatever portion would be into rate base.  That's correct.  But from an O&M perspective, the 888 after 2015 -- that is the Accenture portion for the EnVision service -- goes to zero.

And then when we go live with WAMS in 2016, that basically then increases back to 4.1. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And so that suggests to me you did your deal with Accenture on the extension at the current price; is that right?  

     MR. BROPHY:  So the Accenture extension, two-year extension, the cost is comparable to what we're doing today.  And we're proposing, in the evidence, to treat that in the exact same manner we have for the last 10 years, at a 90/10 rate, 90 percent capitalization, 10 percent O&M.

So no change to any of those factors, including depreciation of those. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I've got it straight now. 

     And we're talking about another program -- I think it was EnTRAC -- where it is obsolete, but with bubble gum and chicken wire, you can take that out another several more years?  

     MR. MISRA:  No.  So I think what we have said, you know, the evidence is that -- what we have said in our evidence is that in order to sustain -- because we don't really have an alternative, and because it was customized and built for Enbridge solution, that we would need to sustain and make those changes.

And there is a fundamental difference between the two, as I have mentioned to Mr. Shepherd. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  But my question is this, in terms of WAMS:  Do you have the flexibility to enter into another extension with Accenture to take you out to 2018?  Whether you do it or not, do you have that flexibility?

Because the way your plan works is you would then get an incremental amount of O&M, the 880 -- you get the 41 versus the 888, plus you would get return on 60 million of rate base for the last three years, if you simply extended with -- 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  So -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- with Accenture. 

     MR. BROPHY:  We are proposing to do what we believe is the right decision of moving to the WAMS solution.  If -- you know, based on the Board Decision about 10 years ago, treating that at 90 percent capital is different than what we would do if we purchased an IT solution and capitalized it under today's policy. 

     So there is a difference in the treatment there, but extending that solution beyond the current extension 

is problematic, because at the very core of the existing 

technology that Accenture leverages is many factors, including Microsoft underlying support.  

And when that expires, it opens up our systems -- not just EnVision, but the systems that it interfaces with, such as our financial systems, our CIS systems.  There is many interfaces to external threats. 

     And, you know, I think we outlined in the evidence that we receive over a million attacks -- I believe it's per month.  Mr. Misra can correct me, if that is not correct. 

     Since the evidence was filed, that number has actually 

grown, I believe.  It was about 1.3 million a month now. 

So we're seeing that threat increasing substantially over time. 

     So to then extend an Accenture service beyond where we are without bringing in a new technology that is supported, is more current, wouldn't be prudent, in my view. 

     MR. AKKERMANS:  So if I can just add, the other option, if we were to think about trying to extend with Accenture, as Mr. Brophy indicated, the issue with the existing technology it is 10 years old; it is obsolescent.   

     The only way that we could end up looking to extend the Accenture agreement, would that -- Accenture would have to go out and look, and look to acquire a new technology themselves.

And from our perspective when we looked at it, we thought that going through a competitive bid process was in the best interests for ratepayers and for the company, as opposed to doing a sole source and extending with Accenture.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I am not suggesting you should do it.  I am just looking at these numbers and saying -- Calgary might suggest that you do it to make a few more dollars.  I hear what you're saying is -- is that it would not be prudent to do that, based on your analysis of the IT situation.  

     MR. BROPHY:  At this point in time, that's correct. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.  Those are my questions. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you.  

     QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD: 

     DR. ELSAYED:  I have a couple of questions on the WAMS program.

If I understand it correctly from the earlier discussion, you went through, I think, three decision points to get there.  One was to change from the current system, and then one to select or award part of the work to one vendor.  And then the next one, which I guess still could be done, is award the other contract.

     What approvals -- who in your organization needs to provide approvals at each of those stages to proceed?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Our executive management has been 

involved through the different stages, has been supportive of it. 

     So we have had the approval to go through those various stages, yes. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  And what justification do you provide to 

senior management to facilitate that approval?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Overall, the fundamental driver behind it is the issue that the existing technology is becoming obsolescent, and the only prudent choice that we have is to go forward and replace that technology. 

     In the -- in our evidence on page 12 of 19, when we outline our four options, when we started to look at it, our preference really would have been to try and look at one of the other alternatives, because the cost of those other alternatives would have been less. 

     For example, if we could extend the existing agreement, that would have been our preferred choice.  But as we outline in our evidence, that was not a prudent choice.  The only prudent choice was for us to go forward and do a full replacement project.  

So therefore that is why they're supportive, in that the primary driver is technology obsolescence. 

     And this is a system that's foundational to us operating, to continue to operate as an organization. 

     MR. MISRA:  If I could add that, it is technology 

obsolescence in terms of risk that it poses to the company when it comes to security and reliability, and the underlying foundational element that it runs the operations of the company. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  So if I understood your responses earlier, while you have been able to quantify the cost estimate, you have not quantified the benefits?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  That is correct.  I think we -- from where we are within the stage of the program, we feel very confident in the estimate that we have. 

     But I think until we choose the system integrator and then get a little further in the program, I think then at that point we will be able to better define the final scope and then be able to better quantify what productivity benefits that the new WAMS program might be able to enable into the future. 

     And as I mentioned, the benefits that we're talking about, really the main focus is looking to replace that technology.  It is a big program to go forward and replace the technology -- we have over 1,000 users of it -- and that is our main focus on it; get it live, stabilize it.  

By the time we're at a point of where we think there might be productivity that this might enable, that won't be until later into 2016, realistically, before we could achieve that. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  When you say you have high confidence in the cost estimate, do you have any contingency in this estimate to allow for uncertainties?  

     MR. BROPHY:  There is contingency that is within that 

estimate.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Can you tell us the level of contingency that you have?

     MR. BROPHY:  I am not sure if that would -- it's typical with these types of projects, I can assure you.  I am just hesitant to start getting into the right numbers. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  If you can't tell me the quantity, can you tell me how you arrived at that level of contingency?

     MR. MISRA:  The contingency -- generally in projects like this that we look at, we look at the fixed and variable costs and we allocate the contingency based on what we think is the variable cost of the program. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  I am not sure I understood your answer. 

     MR. MISRA:  Based on our experience of running these kinds of programs and executing them, we look at fixed and variable costs in the program, and we allocate contingency accordingly. 

     DR. ELSAYED:  So you don't look at the specific risks 

associated with this program?

     MR. MISRA:  We do.  That is another factor that goes into assessing contingency.  

     MR. BROPHY:  If I can add, Dr. Elsayed, that the contingency included in here is in line with other similar large types of initiatives like this, approved by the Board previously.  

     DR. ELSAYED:  Okay.  Thank you.  

     MS. CONBOY:  I guess what many people are trying to get at is that if -- one would think when you're coming to the executive and saying:  We need to undertake a project of this magnitude, that what you would bring to the executive would be a business case which might include -- which would likely include a cost-benefit analysis. 

     I think what I am hearing is that this wasn't done in this particular case with the WAMS, because by the sheer fact that it was obsolete, it wasn't a practical solution not to go with the WAMS.  Therefore, a cost benefit analysis or a business case was not required.

Is that a fair characterization of what I think 

people have been trying to get at?  

     MR. AKKERMANS:  Yes, I think so.  I mean, the WAMS -- this technology is core to our everyday use, everyday work that we do.  We do over a million work requests a year.  This system is absolutely core.  It is like our CIS system for putting out bills to our 2 million customers.  It is one of our core systems in operating --

     MS. CONBOY:  I think you have been clear in terms of how core it is, and the fact you need this type of process. 

     I think what people are trying to get at is with respect to:  Here's this one solution.  It's going to cost $67 million.  We've looked at alternatives.  Here's the cost of the alternatives.  Here is the benefit of the alternatives.  When you put these in front of each other, it's obvious to us, and therefore senior executive, we would like you to approve us to go ahead with the WAMS.  

MR. BROPHY:  Madam Chair, in the evidence, there were four alternatives that were outlined, that were assessed, and I won't read -- 

     MS. CONBOY:  No, that's fine. 

     MR. BROPHY:  -- the reasons there.  But these were very similar types of discussions internally, and I think that you understand the types of constraints we're under as a company. 

     So I can assure you that if there were more cost-effective solutions, or if these alternatives could have been done, that is certainly something that we would have, you know, been putting forward rather than the WAMS program. 

     And the other thing I would say is that when the existing service was put in place about 10 years ago with Accenture, there was a reason why it was a 10-year services agreement, because they knew that the life of those products would be around there.  It was quite reasonable that around this point in time, we would have to be looking at whether it can be extended, how long, what the options are.  

     So fortunately enough, we were able to do a two-year 

Extension, as Mr. Akkermans has outlined, and leverage that and the benefits of that, but it is just not practical to extend it beyond that 

period.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Understood.  Thank you very much.  Those are our questions.

Have you any re-examination for your clients?  

     MR. O'LEARY:  Madam Chair, we do not.  

     MS. CONBOY:  Thank you very much.  

     I understand that we, unfortunately, do not have the 

witnesses here for the next panel. 

     MR. O'LEARY:  They are not here, Madam Chair. 

     MS. CONBOY:  Okay.  Well, I guess everybody gets to go home early today.  

     So we will break for the day and the weekend, and we will see everybody back on Monday at 9:30.

And the panel is excused.  Thank you very much.  

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 2:58 p.m. 
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